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OPEN:  Re-
cycling Trailer in 

Groton
The recycling 

trailer is located 
at 10 East Railroad 
Ave. It takes card-
board, papers and 
aluminum cans. 

2- Dick Kolker’s 80th Birthday Party
2- Truss Pros is Hiring
3- Keith joins Harr Motors
3- Community Events
3- Kern Bridal Shower
4- City Sump Pump Ad
4- KG Roundup Reschedule
4- Groton Care & Rehab ad
5- Community Good Friday Service
6- Sen. Rounds’ Weekly Column
7- High Water Causes Governor and GFP to 

Declare No Wake Zones on Several Lakes
7- Storm Spotter Classes rescheduled
8- Brown County Commission Agenda
9- Groton Area School Board Agenda
10- The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day 

Saints Donates Nearly 70,000 Pounds of Food to 
Feeding South Dakota

11- Today in Weather History
12-  Weather Pages
14- Daily Devotional
15- 2019 Groton Events
16- News from the Associated Press

https://livestream.com/accounts/16049453/events/8640949
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Come Help 
us Celebrate 

Dick's
80th Birthday
Spread the word!

Groton American Legion
Friday, April 19th, 3-7 p.m.

Coffee and Cupcakes at 3 p.m.
Beef / Fish Taco Bar at 5 p.m.
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Friday, April 19, 2019

3 p.m.-7 p.m.: Dick Kolker’s 80th Birthday cel-
ebration at the Legion

No School - Good Friday
7 p.m.: Community Good Friday service at the 

United Methodist Church
Saturday, April 20

10 a.m.: Easter Egg Hunt at the City Park
Monday, April 22

No School - Easter Vacation
Tuesday, April 23

Cancelled: Track meet in Groton
7 p.m.: City Council meeting at the Groton Community Center
7 p.m.: School Board meeting at the multipurpose room.
2:15 p.m.: Tour of Kindness program at Groton Area Elementary. Justine Kougal began the Tour of Kind-

ness last year when her daughter turned 2, she was born with Treacher Collins Syndrome, the same as 
Auggie in the movie Wonder.  She is traveling around the Midwest to schools throughout the region to 
spread the word of kindness and making the choice to Be The Difference and Choose Kind to kids and 
adults alike. The public is invited to attend.
Thursday, April 25, 2019

10:00am: Golf: Girls Varsity Meet @ Redfield Golf Course
3:30pm: Track: 7th/8th Meet @ Milbank High School

Friday, April 26, 2019
1:00pm: Track: Varsity Meet @ Sisseton High School

Saturday, April 27, 2019
7 p.m.: Prom at Groton Area High School

Sunday, April 28, 2019
2 p.m. - 5 p.m.: Bridal Shower for Emily Kern at Emmanuel Lutheran Church
5:30 p.m.: Princesses Prom Grand March at the GHS Gym

Monday, April 29, 2019
2:00pm: Track: 7th/8th Meet @ Redfield Jr-Sr High School

Tuesday, April 30, 2019
8:30am- 3:30pm: KG Roundup (Screening) at Groton Area Elementary School
1:00pm: Track: Varsity Meet @ Milbank High School
DI Pork Loin Meal, 5-7 p.m., HS Gym.
7:00pm: Middle School Spring Concert

Wednesday, May 1, 2019
7 p.m.: Carnival of Silver Skates annual meeting at the warming house.

Thursday, May 2, 2019
10:00am: Golf: Girls Varsity Meet @ Lee Park Golf Course
DI Pork Loin Meal, 5-7 p.m., HS Gym.
7:00pm: High School Spring Concert and Awards Night

Friday, May 3, 2019
Howard Wood Relays in Sioux Falls
4:00pm: Track: Varsity Meet @ Sisseton High School
7:00pm: FFA Banquet Groton Area High School

Saturday, May 4, 2019
8 a.m. to 3 p.m.: Groton City-wide Rummage Sale
Howard Wood Relays in Sioux Falls
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Groton City Notice
Sump Pumps must 

be discharged 
OUTSIDE!

Failure to comply will result in fines.

Hiring High Schoolers!
If you are 16 or older and need a 

summer job, the Groton Rehabilitation Center 
has the job for you! 

During the summer, you can work inside and get some 
experience for a CNA career in the future!

We are an equal employment opportunity employer. All qualified applicants will receive consideration 
for employment without regard to race, color, religion, gender, national origin, disability status, 

protected veteran status or any other characteristic protected by law.

1106 N 2nd Street ~ Groton, SD  ~ 605-397-2365

has been rescheduled to
April 30th

All scheduled times will stay the 
same. Please contact Heidi Krueger 

at the elementary school 
to confirm this new date. 

605/397-2317

KG
Groton Area’s
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Tax Reform Works: Majority of Americans Saw 
Tax Cut

By U.S. Sen. Mike Rounds (R-S.D.)
April 15 is known as tax day, the day in which tax returns are due to be submit-

ted to the federal government. This is the first tax day we’ve had since the Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted, and this year we celebrated with higher wages, 
record economic growth and families across South Dakota keeping more of their paychecks each month.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act lessened the tax burden for South Dakota families and businesses, and our 
economy is stronger because of it. When families aren’t paying high tax rates, they can use their money 
how they want to. This helps to strengthen local economies. 

In addition to lowering tax rates, tax reform also resulted in growing wages and a strong job market. 
More than 5.4 million jobs have been created since the beginning of 2017, according to the Bureau of Labor 
Statistics. Additionally, wages have grown by 3.4 percent over the past year. A number of businesses in 
South Dakota have offered bonuses, raises and other benefits to employees based on savings from the 
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Unemployment is also down across the country. Jobless claims are at the lowest 
levels in 50 years.

The tax reform law simplified the filing process to make it easier for more families to file using the 
1040 postcard. It doubled the standard deduction and repealed Obamacare’s individual mandate which 
imposed an unfair tax on families making less than $50,000 per year. It saved families $5 billion in taxes 
by doubling the child tax credit to $2,000. It also cut the corporate tax rate to make U.S. businesses more 
competitive in the global marketplace. By doubling the exemption rate of the estate tax and stopping a 
massive hike for farmer co-ops, farmers and ranchers also saw a benefit from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

 Some people have been saying the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act didn’t work because they received smaller 
refunds this year. It’s important to remember that tax reform reduced tax rates and required the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) to change tax withholding tables. The size of your refund is based on the amount 
of your paycheck you withheld. Your tax refund represents how much you overpaid to the government 
last year in your paycheck. So if you did not update your W-4 form to make sure you were withholding 
the right amount from your paycheck, you may see a refund that is different from what you expected.

 The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act marked the first time in a generation that comprehensive tax reform had 
been enacted. In the 16 months since it was signed into law, it is clear that it is working for South Dakota 
families. While we still have work to do – such as finalizing trade deals and strengthening our workforce 
– our economy continues to soar thanks to tax relief and other pro-growth policies.
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High Water Causes Governor and GFP to Declare No Wake Zones 

on Several Lakes
PIERRE, S.D. – High water has caused South Dakota Governor Kristi Noem to sign an executive order 

to create temporary “no wake zones” on several eastern South Dakota lakes.
The following lakes have a “No Wake Zone”, effective immediately:
Lake Poinsett, in Hamlin and Brookings County,
Lake Madison, in Lake County
Swan Lake, in Turner County
Brant Lake, in Lake County.
These no wake zones will be within 300 feet of the shoreline on these lakes and will restrict boats to no 

greater than 5 miles per hour in those areas.
These no wake zones will be in place until high water conditions subside.

    Sky Warn 
        Storm Spotter Classes 

  

 
The National Weather Service and Brown County Emergency Management will be 

hosting storm spotter training class. This class will cover topics discussing severe 

thunderstorms that produce damaging winds, large hail, tornadoes and flash floods. 

Other types of severe weather and lightning safety will also be discussed 

 

This class is free and open to the public on the following date: 

 

April 29
th

, 2019 

6:00pm-8:00pm 

KO Lee Public Library 

215 SE 4
th

 Ave 

Room 112A 

 

No registration needed. 

 

 

 

 

More information call: 

Brown County Emergency Management Office 

605-626-7122 
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AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 

BROWN COUNTY COMMISSION 
COMMISSIONER’S CHAMBERS, COURTHOUSE ANNEX 

25 MARKET STREET, ABERDEEN SD 
 

TUESDAY 
APRIL 23, 2019 

 
 

8:45 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. – Derek Ricci, Fair Manager & NECOG – Storm Shelters 
9:00 a.m. – 9:05 a.m. – Salvation Army – Discuss Landfill Fee 
9:05 a.m. – 9:15 a.m. – Aaron Walberg, Veteran’s Service Officer – Discuss Volunteer 
9:15 a.m. – 9:30 a.m. – Erica Coughlin, HR Director – Discuss County Benefits 
9:30 a.m. – 9:35 a.m. – Race Track Discussion 
9:35 a.m. – 9:40 a.m. – Discuss 24/7 Building 
9:40 a.m. – 9:45 a.m. – Cathy McNickle, Auditor – Document Request Fee Schedule 
9:45 a.m. – 10:00 a.m. – Jay Howard – Discuss Property Taxes 
 

 Approve General Meeting Minutes of April 16, 2019 and County Board of Equalization Meeting 
Minutes from April 16, 2019   

 Claims 
 HR Report 
 Lottery Permit 
 Leases 
 Claim Assignments 
 Landfill Compactor Grant Contract 
 Fireworks permit 
 Authorize Advertising Public Hearing – Ord. #136 
 Plats 

 
 

Any other matters to come before the Commission for discussion 
 
 
 

11:00 a.m. - Brown County Board of Equalization 
 
 
1:00 p.m. – Consolidated Board of Equalization 
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GROTON AREA SCHOOL DISTRICT #06-6 

School Board Meeting 
April 23, 2019 – 7:00 PM – GHS Conference Room 

AGENDA: 

1. Call to Order with members present.  Approve agenda as proposed or amended. 

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS DISCLOSURE PURSUANT SDCL 23-3 

OLD/CONTINUING BUSINESS: 

1. Open Forum for Public Participation…in accordance with Board Policy & Guidelines. 
2. Program Overview Presentations 

a. K-12 Special Education… J. Erdmann, D. Vogel, C. Weisenburger, B. Erickson, M. Hill, S. Wilkinson 
b. K-5 Title/RtI… B. Schimmel, J. Helvig, L. Grieve 

3. School Board Committee Reports: 
a. Building, Grounds, & Transportation: Clint Fjelstad, Merle Harder 
b. Personnel, Policy, & Curriculum: Deb Gengerke, Kara Pharis 
c. Negotiations: Grant Rix, Steve Smith, Marty Weismantel 

4. Discussion/possible action on 2018-2019 school calendar amendments related to make-up snow days. 
5. Administrative Reports: (a) Superintendent’s Report; (b) Principal’s Reports; (c) Business Manager Report 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1. Curriculum Review Presentation – 6-12 Language Arts. 
2. Canvass results of April 9, 2019 School Board Election. 
3. Executive session pursuant to SDCL 1-25-2(4) for negotiations and SDCL 1-25-2(1) for personnel. 
4. Approve 2019-2020 GTA Negotiated Agreement. 
5. Approve Summer 2019 Drivers Education agreements for Shaun Wanner and Joel Guthmiller. 

ADJOURN  
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The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints Donates Nearly 

70,000 Pounds of Food to Feeding South Dakota
 
SOUTH DAKOTA [April 17th, 2019] – The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints is pleased to do-

nate 69,644 pounds of food to Feeding South Dakota. This donation is expected to provide 58,036 meals 
to our hungry neighbors throughout the entire state, and includes fruits, vegetables, soups, pastas and 
other much needed items.

Curtis Schmidtlein, President of the Rapid City South Dakota Stake (diocese) explained, “We are pleased 
to make this donation to address food insecurity in South Dakota. It follows other recent food donations 
to the Ministerial Association Food Pantry in Hot Springs, the Storehouse in Custer, and flood relief sup-
plies to the Oglala Sioux Tribe in Pine Ridge.”

For many years, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints has been actively involved in humani-
tarian relief efforts throughout the world, but this is the first time a donation of this size has been given 
directly to an organization in South Dakota. Humanitarian projects are funded by donations from Church 
members and others with 100% of these donations going directly to help those in need.

“Feeding South Dakota is excited to receive this donation from The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-
day Saints,” said Matt Gassen, CEO of Feeding South Dakota. “We are humbled that they have chosen 
to partner with our organization to ensure that this donation reaches all those who struggle with hunger 
on a daily basis. We are grateful for The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints commitment to end 
hunger in our state as well as across the country.”
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Today in Weather History  

April 19, 1955: An F2 tornado moved NNW from 16 miles Southwest of Aberdeen, in the Townships of 
Good Hope and Highland. Only the houses were left intact on the four farms that were torn apart. Also, 
an F2 tornado destroyed barns 8 miles Southeast of Gettysburg causing $8,000 in damage. In Corson 
and Dewey Counties, two F0 tornadoes touched down, one after the other, causing over $3,000 worth 
of damage and injuring two people. An additional F2 tornado moved NNW in Clear Lake and Richland 
Townships. Buildings were destroyed on five farms.

April 19, 1971: An unofficial rainfall amount of 6 inches in 24 hours was reported at White River. An of-
ficial number of 4 plus inches was reported at Murdo, causing the washout of a railroad and derailment 
of a freight train. The Ghost Hawk Dam broke on the Rosebud Indian Reservation, and the flood waters 
damaged a trailer home and two cars. Flooding occurred along the Bad, White, and Little White Rivers 
and Pine Creek.

April 19, 2006: An intense spring snowstorm swept across the Dakotas, dumping up to 5 feet of snow. 
The heaviest snow fell in the Black Hills, with 59.4 inches at Lead, SD. Bowman, ND reported 18 inches. 
The storm closed highways including I-94 in North Dakota, cutting power to thousands and was respon-
sible for at least four deaths. Further west, 1 to 3 feet of snow and 50 to 60 mph winds caused drifts up 
to 10 feet, widespread power outages, and livestock losses. 

1775: The first engagement of the Revolutionary War took place under crisp, clear weather at Lexington-
Concord.

1927: A deadly tornado outbreak occurred across the central part of Illinois, killing 21 people. The first 
tornado touched down near Hardin, traveling northeast through Carrollton, then skimmed the south side 
of Springfield. At Carrollton, a teacher was killed as she held the door of the school shut, saving the lives 
of her students. The second tornado, peaking at estimated F4 intensity, touched down on the southeast 
side of Springfield, then moved to affect the towns of Riverton, Buffalo Hart, Chestnut, and Cornland. In 
Buffalo Hart, only three houses were left standing, while the northern half of Cornland was leveled. The 
tornado track was 65 miles, ending in Ford County.

1986: A major storm system produced ten tornadoes in Texas. One of these tornadoes virtually an-
nihilated the town of Sweetwater. The tornado struck at the unlikely time of 7:17 am. One person was 
killed, and 100 were injured.

1941 - The temperature at Sodus, NY, soared to 95 degrees. The next day Albany, NY, reported a record 
for April of 93 degrees. (The Weather Channel)

1973 - Glenrock, WY, received 41 inches of snow in just 24 hours, and a storm total of 58 inches, to 
establish two state records. (18th-20th) (David Ludlum) (The Weather Channel)

1976 - The northeastern U.S. was in the midst of an early season heat wave, and the Boston Marathon 
took place in 90 degree heat. At Providence RI the mercury hit 98 degrees. (David Ludlum)

1987 - Forty cities in the central U.S. reported new record high temperatures for the date as readings 
soared into the 80s and lower 90s for Easter Sunday. Fort Smith AR reported a record high of 95 degrees. 
(The National Weather Summary)

1988 - Severe thunderstorms over the southeastern U.S. early in the day spawned a strong (F-3) tor-
nado which destroyed seventeen homes and severely damaged thirty houses near Madison FL killing four 
persons and injuring eighteen others. (Storm Data) (The National Weather Summary)

1989 - A dozen cities in the southwestern U.S. reported new record high temperatures for the date. The 
afternoon high of 98 degrees at Hanksville UT equalled their record for April. Tucson AZ reported their 
earliest 100 degree reading of record. (The National Weather Summary)

1990 - Five cities in the northeastern U.S. reported record low temperatures for the date as readings 
dipped into the 20s and upper teens. Elkins WV reported a record low of 20 degrees. Thunderstorms 
over the Southern Plains produced golf ball size hail at San Angelo TX, and up to four inches of rain in 
southwestern Oklahoma. (The National Weather Summary) (Storm Data)



Friday, April 19, 2019 ~ Vol. 27 - No. 283 ~ 12 of 68

Groton Daily Independent

Mild temperatures today will be followed by a little heat for Saturday. Expect sunny, dry and breezy 
conditions both days.
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Yesterday’s Weather

High Outside Temp: 58 °F at 3:47 PM	
Low Outside Temp: 41 °F at 6:21 AM
High Gust: 25 mph at 3:10 PM
Precip: 0.00

Today’s Info
Record High: 90° in 1923
Record Low: 12° in 1988
Average High: 59°F 
Average Low: 33°F 
Average Precip in April.: 0.92
Precip to date in April.: 1.42
Average Precip to date: 3.10
Precip Year to Date: 4.46
Sunset Tonight: 8:25 p.m.
Sunrise Tomorrow: 6:40 a.m.
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WHERE DOES IT ALL END?

Be patient! Gods not finished with me yet! Many of us use those words as an excuse every time we 
make a mess of things. While Im not sure it ever worked for that reason, it was comforting until reality 
set in. There are days when God seems to be shaking us by the nape of our necks to get our attention. 
There are other days when His grace grants one blessing after another. It cannot be denied, however, 
that we are all a work in progress as long as we are alive. The question we must ask ourselves is: What 
is progress, and how will we know when God is finished with us?

If the godly look forward to a reward, what happens when we falter, fail or fall? Are we doomed? Is 
godliness or righteousness ever attainable in this life? Or, is it something we are to struggle with and strive 
for as long as we live?

In this instance, look forward is the outcome of those who have righteousness or godliness as a goal. 
It is what Gods children focus their heads, hearts and hands on. It is not something that happens as a 
byproduct of life. Righteous living is a core value at the center of all that believers do. Unrighteousness, 
which is the opposite, must be avoided at all costs!

The wicked can expect only Gods wrath. Now, that should get everyones attention. Wrath, Gods wrath, 
is His overflowing anger against the unrighteous. Gods wrath can be compared to a fire that is slowly 
growing, and, at the moment in time, will be all consuming.

This verse should remind us that the unrighteous face Gods impending judgment and eventual wrath. 
Today is the day of salvation. Now is the time to repent!

Prayer: May we understand, Father, that our desires determine our destiny. May righteousness rule in 
our hearts, be the center of our heart, and the work of our hands. In Jesus Name, Amen.

Scripture For Today: Proverbs 11:23 The desire of the righteous ends only in good, but the hope of the 
wicked only in wrath.
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2019 Groton SD Community Events

• 01/27/2019 Carnival of Silver Skates 2pm & 6:30pm (Last Sunday of January)
• 03/17/2019 Legion Post #39 Spring Fundraiser (Sunday closest to St. Patrick’s Day, every other year)
• 04/13/2019 Easter Egg Hunt (Saturday a week before Easter Weekend)
• 04/27/2019 Fireman’s Stag (Same Saturday as GHS Prom)
• 05/04/2019 Spring City-Wide Rummage Sales (1st Saturday in May)
• 05/27/2019 Legion Post #39 Memorial Day Program (Memorial Day)
• 06/13/2019 Transit Fundraiser (Thursday Mid-June)
• 06/14/2019 SDSU Golf Tournament at Olive Grove Golf Course
• 06/15/2019 Triathlon (Saturday before Father’s Day)
• 06/21/2019 Best Ball Golf Tourney
• 06/22-23/2019 Groton Junior Legion Tournament
• 06/29/2019 Groton U10/U12 Round Robin Tournament
• 07/04/2019 Firecracker Golf Tourney (4th of July)
• 07/14/2019 Summer Fest/Car Show (Sunday Mid-July)
• 07/18/2019 Olive Grove Golf Course Pro Am Tournament
• 07/21/2019 Granary Ice Cream Social & Family Music Fest
• 08/02/2019 Olive Grove Golf Course Wine on Nine
• 08/09-11/2019 State Junior Legion Tournament in Groton
• 08/22/2019 First Day of School
• 09/07/2019 Fall City-Wide Rummage Sales (1st Saturday after Labor Day)
• 09/08/2019 Sunflower Classic at Olive Grove Golf Course
• 09/08/2019 Granary Living History Fall Festival
• 10/12/2019 Pumpkin Fest (Saturday before Columbus Day)
• 10/11/2019 Lake Region Marching Band Festival (2nd Friday in October)
• 10/31/2019 Trunk or Treat/Halloween on Main (Halloween)
• 11/09/2019 Legion Post #39 Turkey Shoot (Saturday closest to Veteran’s Day)
• 12/07/2019 Olive Grove Golf Course Holiday Party
• 12/07/2019 Santa Claus Day at Professional Management Services
• Bingo: every Wednesday, Labor Day-Memorial Day, 6:30pm at the Legion Post #39

2020 Groton SD Community Events
• 4/4/2020 Easter Egg Hunt (Saturday a week before Easter Weekend)
• 4/25/2020 Fireman’s Stag (Same Saturday as GHS Prom)
• 5/2/2020 Spring City-Wide Rummage Sales (1st Saturday in May)
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3 teens overdose, 5 younger children left unattended
SIOUX FALLS, S.D. (AP) — Sioux Falls police say three teenage girls are hospitalized in a drug overdose 

case after one of the five younger children at the home called for help.
Authorities say the teens, ages 15, 18 and 19, were found unconscious at the home Wednesday night 

after a 12-year-old child placed the call for help. Police spokesman Sam Clemens says the oldest teen was 
babysitting the 12-year-old and four younger children.

Clemens did not know the conditions of the girls who are hospitalized or what type of drug they took. 
He says charges are likely once the investigation is complete.

Businessman pleads guilty in aquaponics investment scheme
SIOUX FALLS, S.D. (AP) — A South Dakota businessman accused of defrauding investors in a scheme 

to build an $11 million fish farm has pleaded guilty to wire and mail fraud.
Tobias Ritesman entered the plea to 18 fraud counts in a federal courtroom Thursday afternoon. He 

was scheduled for trial next week. Ritesman is facing a maximum sentence of 30 years in prison, plus 
possible restitution.

Ritesman and his agents began soliciting money from investors in 2016 for Global Aquaponics in Brook-
ings, an indoor seafood farm that would also grow organic vegetables. Ritesman used the funds from 
investors for his own purposes rather than on the aquaponics development.

A second defendant in the case, Brookings businessman Timothy Burns, is still scheduled for trial next 
week.

Sioux Falls man convicted of murder receives life sentence
SIOUX FALLS, S.D. (AP) — A Sioux Falls man convicted by a jury in a fatal shooting has been sentenced 

to life in prison.
Twenty-nine-year-old Henry Little Long was found guilty earlier this week of second-degree murder and 

first-degree manslaughter in the death of 40-year-old LaKendrick Thornton.
Authorities say Long killed Thornton in a car last September after he got into an argument with Kelsey 

Roubideaux. Long and Roubideaux were both accused of driving to a rural Minnehaha County area and 
leaving Thornton’s body in a ditch. The 23-year-old Roubideaux pleaded guilty to being an accessory to 
a crime.

The Argus Leader reports that Long told Thornton’s family during Thursday’s sentencing hearing that he 
was sorry for their loss, but maintained his innocence.

Long’s attorney, Michael Hanson, said his client intends to appeal his conviction.
___
Information from: Argus Leader, http://www.argusleader.com

North Dakota, Dakota Access developer settle land dispute
By BLAKE NICHOLSON Associated Press

BISMARCK, N.D. (AP) — North Dakota and the developer of the Dakota Access oil pipeline settled a 
lawsuit over the Texas company’s ownership of ranchland in the Plains state where corporations aren’t 
allowed in the farming industry.

The deal awaiting a judge’s approval involves a business structure that technically keeps the land tied 
to Energy Transfer Partners. However, Attorney General Wayne Stenehjem told The Associated Press on 
Thursday that the setup is “proper and legal” and he is not opposing a recent motion filed by ETP attorney 

News from the
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Lawrence Bender to dismiss the case.

“The corporation has divested itself of the land in question, and so there is no longer a complaint to be 
had against them,” Stenehjem said.

ETP subsidiary Dakota Access LLC in September 2016 paid an undisclosed price for about 12 square miles 
of private ranchland in an area where thousands of pipeline opponents gathered to protest in 2016 and 
2017. The company cited the need to protect workers and help law officers monitoring the demonstrations 
against the $3.8 billion pipeline that’s now moving North Dakota oil to a shipping point in Illinois.

A Depression-era law in North Dakota prohibits large corporations from owning agricultural land in order 
to protect the state’s family farming heritage, with certain exceptions.

ETP denied violating the law and said it planned to transfer ownership of the land once the pipeline 
work was done. It reached a deal with Stenehjem that allowed it to keep ownership until July 2018 to 
help maintain the safety of pipeline workers. When the deadline passed and ETP still owned the property, 
Stenehjem sued , asking the court to fine ETP at least $25,000.

In March, the developer formed the 1806 Ranch family farm limited liability company to hold legal title to 
the property, Bender said in court documents. ETP vice president Greg Mcilwain is listed on the warranty 
deed as the 1806 Ranch president.

Bender said in court documents that the structure complies with an exception to the farming law that 
allows for corporations or limited liability companies to comply. That exception requires at least one person 
with the company to live on or operate the farm. A federal judge last year in a separate, unrelated lawsuit 
ruled the operator need not live on the property but could manage from afar.

ETP did not respond to a request for comment on how the land will be used. The company has said 
previously the land has been leased for agricultural purposes.

Stenehjem said the company has several options, including leasing out the land, hiring people to operate 
a farm or ranch, or leaving the land idle and “just let the pheasants reside there.”

___
Follow Blake Nicholson on Twitter at: http://twitter.com/NicholsonBlake

Bankers survey: March floods in Midwest hitting farmers hard
OMAHA, Neb. (AP) — A monthly survey of rural bankers in parts of 10 Plains and Western states shows 

about one of every five expects an increase in farm loan defaults stemming from last month’s devastative 
Midwest floods.

The Rural Mainstreet survey for April, released Thursday, shows the survey’s overall index dropping from 
52.9 in March to 50 this month. Any score above 50 suggests a growing economy, while a score below 50 
indicates a shrinking economy.

Creighton University economist Ernie Goss, who oversees the survey, says “43.8 percent of bank CEOs 
indicated that the recent floods were having a negative impact on their local economy.”

Bankers also noted that farm loans for April surged as the borrowing index climbed to 81.3, the highest 
recorded since the survey began in 2006.

Bankers from Colorado, Illinois, Iowa, Kansas, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, South Da-
kota and Wyoming were surveyed.

Saturday search organized for missing girl
ROCKERVILLE, S.D. (AP) — Investigators in South Dakota are conducting another search for a 9-year-old 

girl who went missing in the Black Hills area more two months ago.
Pennington County sheriff’s spokeswoman Helene Duhamel says the search will resume Friday for Se-

renity Dennard, who ran away from the Black Hills Children’s Home on Feb. 3.
The sheriff’s office has organized numerous searches since then, though some were called off due to 

inclement weather. The Friday search will involve up to 40 people and two K-9 teams.
The search changed from a rescue to a recovery effort not long after the girl went missing. The sheriff’s 
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office said Serenity likely wouldn’t have survived if she was outside in sub-zero temperatures.

___
This story has been corrected to show the search will resume Friday, not Saturday, according to an 

update from the sheriff’s office.

Appeals court weighs Trump permit for Keystone XL pipeline
Associated Press undefined

BILLINGS, Mont. (AP) — U.S. Justice Department attorneys want an appeals court to let construction 
proceed on the Keystone XL oil pipeline from Canada. But opponents say President Donald Trump is trying 
to skirt the law by issuing a new permit for the project.

The Trump administration has asked the 9th U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals to reverse a lower court ruling 
that blocked construction of the $8 billion pipeline.

Government attorneys say the November ruling that more environmental study was needed is now 
meaningless. That’s because Trump issued a new permit to developer TransCanada in March.

In a legal filing late Wednesday, environmental groups asked the appeals court to keep construction 
blocked.

Legal experts say the case is another test of Trump’s use of presidential power to get his way.

Executive to plead guilty to fraud in $11M fish farm scheme
SIOUX FALLS, S.D. (AP) — A South Dakota businessman accused of defrauding investors in a scheme to 

build an $11 million fish farm will plead guilty to wire and mail fraud, according to court records.
A trial for Tobias Ritesman is set to begin next week, but he’s entered a petition in federal court that 

shows he intends to plead guilty to all 18 counts against him, the Argus Leader reported.
Ritesman and his agents began soliciting money from investors in 2016 for Global Aquaponics in Brook-

ings, an indoor seafood farm that would also grow organic vegetables.
The company sought $5.4 million from investors for what Ritesman billed as a pilot project for future 

seafood farms that could help end world hunger, according to a memorandum sent to investors. The in-
vestors were told that the company already had $5.6 million in cash, which wasn’t true.

They were also told other falsehoods about Ritesman, including that he had earned a master’s degree in 
business from the University of California-Los Angeles, according to the memo. Ritesman, who portrayed 
himself as an international business consultant and was known to handle a pistol during meetings, also 
claimed to have won a bogus award from the United Nations.

According to the guilty petition, Ritesman used the funds he collected from investors for personal ex-
penses.

A second executive accused of misleading investors in the case, Brookings businessman Timothy Burns, 
is still scheduled for trial next week.

Burns’ lawyer wasn’t immediately available for comment.
___
Information from: Argus Leader, http://www.argusleader.com

Charges: Man accused in fatal shooting had weapon in jail
SIOUX FALLS, S.D. (AP) — A defendant accused in a fatal shooting in a Sioux Falls park is charged with 

having a weapon in jail.
An indictment alleges Abraham Darsaw had a weapon in jail on March 23, but doesn’t say what kind of 

weapon. Darsaw is facing charges of second-degree murder and first-degree manslaughter in the August 
2018 shooting at Falls Park.

The Argus Leader reports Minnehaha County Jail Warden Jeff Gromer says the weapon was found dur-
ing a routine cell search.
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Darsaw is accused of killing 25-year-old Moses Cole and critically injuring another man following an ar-

gument at a barbecue.

Biden expected to launch presidential campaign next week
By JULIE PACE, THOMAS BEAUMONT and MEG KINNARD Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — Former Vice President Joe Biden is expected to announce he’s running for presi-
dent next week.

That’s according to three people with knowledge of Biden’s plans.
Biden will enter the race as a Democratic front-runner, although the 76-year-old faces questions about 

his age and whether his more moderate record fits with a party that has become more liberal.
The announcement is expected as early as Wednesday and would cap months of deliberation over his 

political future.
The people with knowledge of Biden’s plans insisted on anonymity because they were not authorized 

to speak publicly.
The Atlantic first reported Biden’s decision.

Congress plunges into Mueller report, subpoena upcoming
By LISA MASCARO AP Congressional Correspondent

WASHINGTON (AP) — It’s now up to Congress to decide what to do with special counsel Robert Muel-
ler’s findings about President Donald Trump.

While the special counsel declined to prosecute Trump on obstruction of justice, he did not exonerate 
him, all but leaving the question to Congress. Mueller’s report provides fresh evidence of Trump’s interfer-
ence in the Russia probe, challenging lawmakers to respond. The risks for both parties are clear if they 
duck the responsibility or prolong an inquiry that, rather than coming to a close, may be just beginning.

“The responsibility now falls to Congress,” said Rep. Jerrold Nadler, D-N.Y., the chairman of the House 
Judiciary Committee, which has the power to launch impeachment proceedings.

Attorney General William Barr sent Congress a redacted version of the report, blacking out several types 
of material, including classified information, material pertaining to ongoing investigations, and grand jury 
evidence.

Nadler told ABC’s “Good Morning America” on Friday that he expects to issue a subpoena within “a couple 
of hours” for the full report, including the normally secret grand jury evidence. That would likely spark a 
lengthy legal and political battle over whether that material can be released.

How far lawmakers will go, though, remains unclear. Republicans are eager to push past what Trump calls 
the “witch hunt” that has overshadowed the party and the presidency. And while Democrats say Mueller’s 
findings are far more serious than initially indicated in Barr’s four-page summary, they’ve been hesitant to 
pursue the ultimate step, impeachment proceedings, despite pressure from the left flank of the party to 
begin efforts to try to remove the president from office.

House Speaker Nancy Pelosi, traveling Thursday on a congressional trip to Ireland, said in a joint state-
ment with Senate Democratic Leader Chuck Schumer only that Mueller’s report revealed more than was 
known about the obstruction question.

“As we continue to review the report, one thing is clear: Attorney General Barr presented a conclusion 
that the president did not obstruct justice while Mueller’s report appears to undercut that finding,” they said.

Later, in a letter to House Democrats, Pelosi vowed: “Congress will not be silent.”
Biding their time, Democrats are putting the focus on their next investigative steps. Nadler summoned 

Mueller to testify and the chairman said Thursday he will be issuing subpoenas for the full report. And next 
week, both the House and Senate are scheduled to hear from Barr, whom Democrats accuse of distorting 
the report’s contents to Trump’s benefit.

But it’s unlikely that the full Mueller report or the public testimony will untangle the dilemma that Demo-
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crats face. Mueller laid out multiple episodes in which Trump directed others to influence or curtail the 
Russia investigation after the special counsel’s appointment in May 2017, and Trump made clear that he 
viewed the probe as a potential mortal blow — “the end of my presidency.”

The special counsel wrestled with what to do with his findings, unable to charge or exonerate, and sided 
with the department’s guideline that indicting a sitting president would impair the ability of the executive 
branch to function.

“We concluded that Congress has authority to prohibit a President’s corrupt use of his authority in order 
to protect the integrity of the administration of justice,” the report said.

Rep. Adam Schiff, the chairman of the Intelligence Committee, said the acts described in the report 
“whether they are criminal or not, are deeply alarming in the president of the United States. And it’s clear 
that special counsel Mueller wanted the Congress to consider the repercussions and the consequences.”

Schiff, the California Democrat, said, “If the special counsel, as he made clear, had found evidence 
exonerating the president, he would have said so. He did not. He left that issue to the Congress of the 
United States.”

Republicans sought to portray Democrats as unwilling to let go of the idea that Trump colluded with 
Russia to swing the election. “What you’re seeing is unprecedented desperation from the left,” tweeted 
Rep. Mark Meadows, R-N.C., a top Trump ally. “There was no collusion. It’s over.”

Other Republicans were more measured. Senate Majority Leader Mitch McConnell, who is one of the 
few members of Congress mentioned in the report, told reporters in Kentucky, “It’s too early to start 
commenting on portions of it.”

McConnell was among several people the report said former White House Counsel Don McGahn had 
reached out to on behalf of the president when Trump was trying to stop then Attorney General Jeff Ses-
sions from recusing himself at the start of the Russia probe.

In all, the report revealed 10 areas of potential obstruction, from Trump’s firing of FBI Director James 
Comey to his attempts to thwart Mueller’s investigation. In many cases, the additional details show a 
president restrained only by aides and others around him.

“If we had confidence after a thorough investigation of the facts that the President clearly did not com-
mit obstruction of justice, we would so state,” the report says. “However, we are unable to reach that 
judgment. The evidence we obtained about the President’s actions and intent presents difficult issues that 
prevent us from conclusively determining that no criminal conduct occurred.”

Mueller’s team hewed to department guidelines. “We recognized that a federal criminal accusation 
against a sitting President would place burdens on the President’s capacity to govern,” the report said. 
“We determined not to apply an approach that could potentially result in a judgment that the President 
committed crimes.”

For Democrats, those pages amount to a green light to finish what Mueller started.
Rep. Jamie Raskin, D-Md., a member of the Judiciary Committee, said his reading of the report shows that 

Trump “almost certainly obstructed justice” and it was only his staff intervened to prevent certain actions.
“We have a very serious situation on our hands,” he said. “It’s an awesome and solemn responsibility 

that Congress has now to try to deal with the crisis that’s contained in this report.”
But what comes next may not be any more conclusive, especially as Democrats say they are unwilling 

to consider impeachment without bipartisan support from Republicans. The investigations may provide a 
steady stream of revelations that damage the president while also firing up his supporters to his defense 
as he gears up for re-election. Or the probes could push Congress farther than many now are willing to go.

Rep. Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez tweeted Thursday that she takes “no pleasure in discussions of impeach-
ment. I didn’t campaign on it, &amp; rarely discuss it unprompted.” But she said, “the report squarely 
puts this on our doorstep.”

___
Associated Press reporters Mary Clare Jalonick, Padmananda Rama, Jennifer Peltz in New York and Dylan 

Lovan in LaGrange, Kentucky contributed to this report.
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For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

Former counsel may have saved Trump from himself
By ZEKE MILLER and JILL COLVIN Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — Don McGahn was barely on speaking terms with President Donald Trump when 
he left the White House last fall. But special counsel Robert Mueller’s report reveals the president may 
owe his former top lawyer a debt of gratitude.

McGahn, who sat with Mueller for about 30 hours of interviews, emerged as a central character in Muel-
ler’s painstaking investigation into whether Trump obstructed justice and impeded the years-long Russia 
investigation. In one striking scene , Mueller recounts how Trump called McGahn twice at home and directed 
him to set Mueller’s firing in motion. McGahn recoiled and threatened to resign instead.

Mueller concluded that McGahn and others effectively halted Trump’s efforts to influence the investiga-
tion, prompting some White House officials and outside observers to call him an unsung hero in the effort 
to protect the president.

John Marston, a former Washington, D.C. assistant United States attorney, said McGahn appeared to 
help Trump “both in real time with his actions and then as well as being forthcoming.”

McGahn’s relationship with the president was turbulent. A prominent Washington attorney, he joined 
Trump’s campaign as counsel in 2015 and followed him to the White House, but the two men never de-
veloped a close rapport. His departure last fall came as little surprise.

Still, it was McGahn who Trump turned to on June 17, 2017, when he wanted to oust Mueller. According 
to the special counsel report, McGahn responded to the president’s request by calling his personal lawyer 
and his chief of staff, driving to the White House, packing up his belongings and preparing to submit his 
letter of resignation. He told then-White House Chief of Staff Reince Priebus that the president had asked 
him to “do crazy s---.”

Mueller said McGahn feared Trump was setting in motion a series of events “akin to the Saturday Night 
Massacre,” the Nixonian effort to rein in the Watergate investigation.

William Alden McDaniel, a lawyer who represented targets and witnesses in the Ken Starr investigation, 
as well as high-ranking officials in the Iran-Contra scandal, said McGahn appeared to be “one of the few 
people in the administration to stand up to the president” and that “takes a certain amount of principle.”

Mueller’s report shows there were a handful of other aides who rebuffed orders and suggestions from 
the president, helping save him from the consequences. Former campaign manager Corey Lewandowski 
resisted an effort by Trump to convince Attorney General Jeff Sessions to un-recuse himself from the in-
vestigation and to limit the scope of Mueller’s probe. Priebus and McGahn repeatedly resisted Trump efforts 
to force out Sessions so that Trump could replace him and install a new person to oversee Mueller’s work.

McGahn also tried in other ways to keep the president in line, advising him that he should not communi-
cate directly with the Department of Justice to avoid the perception or reality of political interference in law 
enforcement and reminding him that their conversations were not protected by attorney-client privilege.

Trump responded by questioning McGahn’s tendency to take notes and draft memoranda outlining his 
advice to the president for the historical record.

“Why do you take notes? Lawyers don’t take notes. I never had a lawyer who took notes,” Trump said, 
according to Mueller’s report. The special counsel said McGahn responded that he keeps notes “because 
he is a ‘real lawyer’ and explained that notes create a record and are not a bad thing.”

Exchanges like those appear to have led Mueller to conclude that McGahn was “a credible witness with 
no motive to lie or exaggerate given the position he held in the White House.”

McGahn did not respond to a request for comment Thursday and nearly a dozen friends and former col-
leagues mostly spoke on the condition of anonymity to avoid upsetting him, describing him as a private 
person.

They largely characterized McGahn’s time in the White House as unhappy and defined by his frequent 
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clashes with the president.

“Don is an experienced lawyer who’s dealt with difficult clients in the past,” said Jason Torchinsky, an 
election law attorney who has known McGhan for 20 years.

The White House declined comment.
In a campaign and White House staffed largely by novices and bootlickers, McGahn was a rare establish-

ment figure, despite his longer hair and 80s cover band dabbling. He served as commissioner and chairman 
of the Federal Election Commission and had deep roots with the Republican party, including spending a 
decade as general counsel of the National Republican Congressional Committee.

At the White House, he earned praise from conservatives for helping confirm a series of conservative 
judges, including, in his final act, shepherding Supreme Court nominee Brett Kavanaugh’s confirmation. 
He was also instrumental in fulfilling long-held conservative priorities, including leading the White House’s 
systematic effort to cut government regulations and weaken the power of administrative law judges.

__
Follow Miller and Colvin on Twitter at https://twitter.com/ZekeJMiller and https://twitter.com/colvinj

Columbine focuses on healing as questions loom after manhunt
By KATHLEEN FOODY and KELLI KENNEDY Associated Press

LITTLETON, Colo. (AP) — A Colorado community changed forever by the attack that killed 13 people at 
Columbine High School moved ahead Thursday with ceremonies marking the anniversary of the tragedy 
while awaiting more details on what led a Florida teen “infatuated” with the shooting to buy a shotgun 
and kill herself in the snowy foothills nearby.

Many questions remained unanswered about 18-year-old Sol Pais, but a friend disputed the contention 
by authorities that she posed a threat.

Adrianna Pete painted a complex picture of Pais, saying she was deeply troubled, lonely and often talked 
about suicide but was also brilliant, kind and a talented artist who loved to draw.

Pete, 19, a college student in Carleton, Michigan, said she met Pais online two years ago through a 
mutual friend and quickly developed a friendship involving near-daily communication. They met in person 
twice, once when Pete traveled to Florida and once when Pais went to Michigan.

Pete faulted authorities for overreacting in portraying Pais as a threat based on her activities before her 
death.

“She never threatened anyone,” Pete said. “There are no credible threats and only assumptions that she 
was just because the word Columbine was included.”

Pete said Pais had a weird obsession with the Columbine killers but that didn’t mean she was planning 
an attack. The killers were “someone she could relate to” because they were lonely, not because of their 
violence, Pete said.

“She would say I hate life, life sucks and that she was very alone,” Pete said. “Then she told me she had 
it figured out with her parents before so I assumed like she was doing OK ... She actually posted about 
it a lot, wanting to die.”

Two teenagers attacked Columbine on April 20, 1999, killing 12 classmates and a teacher before taking 
their own lives. They have inspired cult-like admirers, some of whom committed other mass shootings.

The days surrounding the April 20 anniversary of the attack are always emotional for school alumni, 
their families and the suburban community of Littleton surrounding Columbine. Some survivors describe 
the experience as an “April fog.”

The manhunt for Pais and the resulting closure of schools added a new layer of anxiety, former Columbine 
principal Frank DeAngelis said Wednesday after the FBI declared the danger was over.

A religious service Thursday night will begin three days of commemorative events themed “Remember. 
Reflect. Recommit” leading to a day of community service projects and a ceremony Saturday at a park 
near the school.

Pais’ body was discovered Wednesday in the mountains outside Denver with what appeared to be a 
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self-inflicted gunshot wound.

Colorado authorities learned about Pais on Tuesday from an alarmed Miami FBI office that had interviewed 
people about her obsession with the Columbine shooting.

Dozens of schools, including Columbine, locked their doors for several hours on Tuesday and even more 
closed altogether on Wednesday.

More than 400,000 students returned to Denver-area schools Thursday, with visible police presence 
outside buildings.

FBI officials declined Wednesday to discuss Pais’ mental health or detail the comments she made indi-
cating an “infatuation” with the Columbine shooting. An FBI spokeswoman did not immediately respond 
to a request Thursday for more information on Pais’ background or her Columbine-related comments that 
sparked a rapid law enforcement response.

Officials at her Florida school district said they had no record of Pais being contacted by law enforce-
ment or disciplined in school.

Her family has not spoken publicly but worked with authorities this week.
Pete described Pais as caring and thoughtful, someone who helped with her Spanish homework and 

sent her a pair of earrings when she was having boyfriend troubles.
When they got together in Miami last summer, they went swimming at the beach, walked the boardwalk 

and played with stray cats. Almost daily, Pais walked to a store and bought a coffee energy drink. She 
was obsessed with them, Pete said.

“I believe she was just very mentally ill and had no one but me to confide in and a few people on the 
internet,” Pete said.

FBI officials said Wednesday they were reviewing all of Pais’ activity in recent weeks, including her social 
media accounts and other online writing. They confirmed that online material includes a blog featuring 
hand-written journal entries about the author’s unhappiness and desire to die along with sketches of guns 
or knives.

Pais did not make threats against a specific school but her history and purchase of a weapon immediately 
after arriving in Colorado merited a broad response, officials said.

Pais arrived Monday and went directly to a gun store, where she bought a shotgun, authorities said. The 
purchase apparently followed the legal process, officials said.

___
Kennedy reported from Miami. Associated Press writers Ellis Rua in Miami Beach, Florida, and James 

Anderson, P. Solomon Banda, Colleen Slevin and Thomas Peipert in Denver contributed to this report.

Mueller report: Trump largely failed to derail Russia probe
By NANCY BENAC, CHAD DAY, ERIC TUCKER and MICHAEL BALSAMO Associated Press
WASHINGTON (AP) — President Donald Trump sought the removal of special counsel Robert Mueller, 

discouraged witnesses from cooperating with prosecutors and prodded aides to mislead the public on his 
behalf, according to a hugely anticipated report from Mueller that details multiple efforts the president 
made to curtail a Russia probe he feared would cripple his administration.

Trump’s attempts to seize control of the investigation, and directions to others on how to influence it, 
“were mostly unsuccessful, but that is largely because the persons who surrounded the President declined 
to carry out orders or accede to his requests,” Mueller wrote in a two-volume, 448-page redacted report 
that made for riveting reading.

In one particularly dramatic moment, Mueller reported that Trump was so agitated at the special coun-
sel’s appointment on May 17, 2017, that he slumped back in his chair and declared: “Oh my God. This is 
terrible. This is the end of my presidency. I’m f---ed.”

With that, Trump set out to save himself.
In June of that year, Mueller wrote, Trump directed White House Counsel Don McGahn to call Deputy 

Attorney General Rod Rosenstein, who oversaw the probe, and say that Mueller must be ousted because 
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he had conflicts of interest. McGahn refused — deciding he would sooner resign than trigger a potential 
crisis akin to the Saturday Night Massacre of firings during the Watergate era.

Two days later, the president made another attempt to alter the course of the investigation, meeting 
with former campaign manager Corey Lewandowski and dictating a message for him to relay to then-
Attorney General Jeff Sessions. The message: Sessions would publicly call the investigation “very unfair” 
to the president, declare Trump did nothing wrong and say Mueller should limit his probe to “investigating 
election meddling for future elections.” The message was never delivered.

The report’s bottom line largely tracked the findings revealed in Attorney General William Barr’s four-
page memo released a month ago — no collusion with Russia but no clear verdict on obstruction — but 
it added new layers of detail about Trump’s efforts to thwart the investigation. Looking ahead, both sides 
were already using the findings to amplify well-rehearsed arguments about Trump’s conduct, Republicans 
casting him as a victim of harassment and Democrats depicting the president as stepping far over the 
line to derail the investigation.

The Justice Department released its redacted version of the report about 90 minutes after Barr offered 
his own final assessment of the findings at a testy news conference. The nation, Congress and Trump’s 
White House consumed it voraciously online, via compact disc delivered to legislators and in loose-leaf 
binders distributed to reporters.

The release represented a moment of closure nearly two years in the making but also the starting bell 
for a new round of partisan warfare.

A defiant Trump pronounced it “a good day” and tweeted “Game Over” in a typeface mimicking the 
“Game of Thrones” logo. By late afternoon, he was airborne for his Mar-a-Lago private club in Florida with 
wife Melania for the holiday weekend.

Top Republicans in Congress saw vindication, too.
House Minority Leader Kevin McCarthy said it was time to move on from Democrats’ effort to “vilify 

a political opponent.” The California lawmaker said the report failed to deliver the “imaginary evidence” 
incriminating Trump that Democrats had sought.

Trump campaign manager Brad Parscale said Republicans should turn the tables and “investigate the 
liars who instigated this sham investigation.”

But Democrats cried foul over Barr’s preemptive press conference and said the report revealed troubling 
details about Trump’s conduct in the White House.

In a joint statement, House Speaker Nancy Pelosi and Senate Democratic leader Chuck Schumer wrote 
that “one thing is clear: Attorney General Barr presented a conclusion that the president did not obstruct 
justice while Mueller’s report appears to undercut that finding.”

House Judiciary Chairman Jerrold Nadler added that the report “outlines disturbing evidence that President 
Trump engaged in obstruction of justice and other misconduct.” He sent a letter to the Justice Department 
requesting that Mueller himself testify before his panel “no later than May 23” and said he’d be issuing a 
subpoena for the full special counsel report and the underlying materials.

Signaling battles ahead, Nadler earlier called the investigation “incredibly thorough” work that would 
preserve evidence for future probes.

Barr said he wouldn’t object to Mueller testifying.
Trump himself was never questioned in person, but the report’s appendix includes 12 pages of his writ-

ten responses to queries from Mueller’s team.
Mueller deemed Trump’s written answers — rife with iterations of “I don’t recall” — to be “inadequate.” 

He considered issuing a subpoena to force the president to appear in person but decided against it after 
weighing the likelihood of a long legal battle.

In his written answers, Trump said his comment during a 2016 political rally asking Russian hackers to 
help find emails scrubbed from Hillary Clinton’s private server was made “in jest and sarcastically” and 
said he did not recall being told during the campaign of any Russian effort to infiltrate or hack computer 
systems.
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But Mueller said that within five hours of Trump’s comment, Russian military intelligence officers were 

targeting email accounts connected to Clinton’s office.
Mueller evaluated nearly a dozen episodes for possible obstruction of justice, and said he could not con-

clusively determine that Trump had committed criminal obstruction. The episodes included Trump’s firing 
of FBI Director James Comey, the president’s directive to subordinates to have Mueller fired and efforts 
to encourage witnesses not to cooperate.

Sessions was so affected by Trump’s frequent criticism of him for recusing himself from the investigation 
that he kept a resignation letter “with him in his pocket every time he went to the White House,” Mueller 
said.

The president’s lawyers have said Trump’s conduct fell within his constitutional powers, but Mueller’s 
team deemed the episodes deserving of scrutiny for potential criminal acts.

As for the question of whether the Trump campaign had colluded with Russia during the 2016 presidential 
campaign, Mueller wrote that the campaign “expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen 
and released through Russian efforts.”

But Mueller said investigators concluded, “While the investigation identified numerous links between 
individuals with ties to the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign, the 
evidence was not sufficient to support criminal charges.”

Workers at a Russian troll farm contacted Trump’s campaign, claiming to be political activists for conser-
vative grassroots organizations, and asked for signs and other campaign materials to use at rallies. While 
volunteers provided some of those materials — and set aside a number of signs — investigators don’t 
believe any Trump campaign officials knew the requests were coming from foreign nationals, Mueller wrote.

Mueller wrote that investigators “did not establish that members of the Trump campaign conspired or 
coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities.”

Josh Blackman, a professor at the South Texas College of Law Houston, stressed that Mueller didn’t think 
the president’s obligations to run the executive branch entitled him to absolute immunity from prosecu-
tion. But to find that the president obstructed justice, he said, Mueller would have needed much clearer 
evidence that the president acted solely with “corrupt intent.”

“The evidence was sort of muddled,” Blackman said, adding that the president’s actions had multiple 
motivations.

The report laid out some of Mueller’s reasoning for drawing no conclusion on the question of obstruction.
Mueller wrote that he would have exonerated Trump if he could, but he wasn’t able to do that given the 

evidence he uncovered. And he said the Justice Department’s standing opinion that a sitting president 
couldn’t be indicted meant he also couldn’t recommend Trump be criminally charged, even in secret.

Trump’s written responses addressed no questions about obstruction of justice, as was part of an agree-
ment with Trump’s legal team.

He told Mueller he had “no recollection” of learning in advance about the much-scrutinized Trump Tower 
meeting between campaign officials and a Russian lawyer. He also said he had no recollection of knowledge 
about emails setting up the meeting that promised dirt on Clinton’s Democratic campaign.

He broadly denied knowing of any foreign government trying to help his campaign, including the Rus-
sian government. He said he was aware of some reports that Russian President Vladimir Putin had made 
“complimentary statements” about him.

It wasn’t just Trump under the microscope. But Mueller wrote that he believed prosecutors would be 
unlikely to meet the burden of proof to show that Donald Trump Jr. and other participants in the Trump 
Tower meeting “had general knowledge that their conduct was unlawful.” Nor did Mueller’s probe develop 
evidence that they knew that foreign contributions to campaigns were illegal or other particulars of federal 
law.

Barr’s contention that the report contained only “limited redactions” applied more to the obstruction of 
justice section than its look at Russian election meddling. Overall, about 40 percent of the pages contained 
at least something that was blocked out, mostly to protect ongoing investigations. Barr had said that he 
would redact grand jury information and material related to investigations, privacy and intelligence.
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AP writers Zeke Miller, Mary Clare Jalonick, Lisa Mascaro, Dustin Weaver, Deb Riechmann, Susannah 

George, Michael R. Sisak, Stephen Braun, Jill Colvin, Jonathan Lemire, Darlene Superville, Jessica Gresko, 
Mark Sherman, Julie Pace and Elizabeth Kennedy contributed to this report.

___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

College golfer in hijab out to blaze trail for Muslim girls
By ERIC OLSON AP Sports Writer

LINCOLN, Neb. (AP) — Noor Ahmed outwardly lives her Muslim faith, and even growing up in a state as 
diverse as California she says she encountered hostility on the street, in school and on the golf course.

One of the top junior golfers in Northern California coming out of high school, Ahmed was a starter in 
her first year at Nebraska and the No. 2 player most of this spring. She is believed to be the only golfer at 
the college level or higher who competes in a hijab, the headscarf worn in adherence to the Muslim faith.

Arriving in Lincoln two years ago, Ahmed sensed hesitancy from teammates mostly from small Midwest-
ern towns and unaccustomed to seeing a woman in a hijab. She didn’t feel embraced until an unfortunate 
yet unifying event roiled the campus midway through her freshman year.

A video surfaced of a student claiming to be the “most active white nationalist in the Nebraska area,” 
disparaging minorities and advocating violence. The student, it turned out, was in the same biology lecture 
class as Ahmed.

Teammates offered to walk with her across campus, and one who would become her best friend, Kate 
Smith, invited Ahmed to stay with her. She didn’t accept but was heartened by the gesture.

“That,” Smith said, “was when she realized how much each and every one of us care for her on the 
team, that it wasn’t just like, ‘Hey you’re our teammate.’ No, it’s ‘We want you to be safe, we want you to 
feel at home here.’”

Having grown up in the post-9/11 era, Ahmed, like many Muslims in the United States, has been a target 
for bullying and verbal abuse. She began wearing the hijab in middle school.

On the course, in an airport or even walking across campus she can feel the long stares and notices the 
glances. She said she has never been physically threatened — “that I know of” — and that most of the 
face-to-face insults came before she arrived at Nebraska.

Much of the venom spewed at her now comes on social media. She has been the subject of several 
media profiles, and each sparks another round of hateful messages. She acknowledges she reads but 
doesn’t respond to messages and that an athletic department sports psychologist has helped her learn 
how to deal with them.

“I’ve been called every racial slur in the book,” she said. “I’ve been told explicitly that people who look 
like me don’t play golf, we don’t have a right to exist in America, you should go home. It would definitely 
faze me a little bit, but it never deterred me. I’m really stubborn, so I’m going to prove you wrong, just 
wait. When people think they’re dragging me down, it kind of fuels the fire in me that I’m going to be a 
better golfer, I’m going to be a better student, I’m going to keep climbing up the ladder.”

The daughter of Egyptian immigrants is from a close-knit family in Folsom, California, and she steeled 
herself for the cultural adjustment she would have to make at Nebraska.

She dealt with loneliness and anxiety, especially her freshman year. She had difficulty finding a sup-
port network. There is a small Muslim community on campus, but she didn’t immerse herself in it. The 
demands on athletes are great, and they are largely segregated, eating and studying in facilities separate 
from those used by regular students.

Nebraska coach Robin Krapfl said she was initially concerned about how teammates would react to 
Ahmed. Krapfl remembered meeting with her golfers and telling them about her.

“I could tell by a couple of the looks and maybe even a comment or two that they weren’t 100 percent 
comfortable with that,” Krapfl said. “A lot of our girls come from small-town communities that are very 
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limited in their ethnicity.  It’s just the fear of the unknown. They had just never been exposed to being 
around someone from the Muslim faith.”

Krapfl said she saw a golfer or two roll their eyes, another shook her head.  “I overheard, ‘Why would 
Coach bring someone like that on the team?’ “

“Luckily when she got here people could see her for who she was and the quality of person she was,” 
Krapfl said. “It took a while. It really did. You’ve got to get to know somebody, who they really are and 
not just what they look like.”

Smith said she sometimes cringes when she and Ahmed are in a group and the conversation turns to 
politics, immigration or even fashion, like when someone innocently or ignorantly tells Ahmed that she 
would look good in a short dress or a certain hairstyle.

“She can never wear a short dress, so why would you want to depict her as that?” Smith said. “You 
have to respect her beliefs and why she’s doing it. Also, I think a lot of things are connected to women’s 
beauty standards and how people don’t think she can look beautiful when she’s covered. I think she’s a 
really beautiful girl no matter how much skin she’s showing.”

For all the challenges Ahmed faced, there have been positives. Some people have complimented her for 
living her faith as she sees fit, a Muslim teen who golfs in a hijab and lives in the United Kingdom wrote 
to says she draws inspiration from her, and a player for another college team approached her at an event 
to tell her she recently converted to Islam and just wanted to say hi.

“I remember going and crying and, wow, I’m not alone out here,” she said.
Ahmed said she’s naturally shy and a bit uncomfortable with the attention, but she hopes Muslim girls 

coming up behind her are watching.
“I grew up never seeing anyone like me,” she said. “Honestly, I didn’t realize how much grief I was car-

rying, having never seen an image of myself or someone who looked like me in popular American culture. 
It’s a big deal.

“Why are basketball and football so heavily African American? If I were black and I saw people who 
looked like me competing in that sport, that’s probably the sport I would choose. I think it’s really impor-
tant when we’re talking about trying to make golf and other sports and other areas in American culture 
diverse, how important it is to see someone who looks like you and how it will fuel other people’s interest.”

Ahmed started playing golf at 8, and her parents encouraged her to take the sport to the highest level 
possible. Wearing the hijab has never interfered with her game and she has never considered not wear-
ing it on the course.

“I think Muslim women who choose to observe it or choose not to observe it have the right to exist in 
any space they want to be in,” she said, “and I would feel like I would be sending a message that the 
hijab doesn’t exist in this place or it shouldn’t, and I don’t feel comfortable with that.”

10 Things to Know for Today
By The Associated Press undefined

Your daily look at late breaking news, upcoming events and the stories that will be talked about today:
1. CONGRESS MULLS NEXT STEPS AFTER RELEASE OF MUELLER REPORT
It’s now up to Congress to decide what to do with special counsel Robert Mueller’s findings about Presi-

dent Donald Trump.
2. ANALYSIS: MUELLER PAINTS A DAMNING PORTRAIT OF THE PRESIDENT
Robert Mueller’s investigation revealed a commander in chief consumed by self-interest and intent on 

having his top lieutenants lie or obfuscate on his behalf.
3. WHO TRUMP MAY OWE A DEBT OF GRATITUDE
Mueller concluded the president’s former top lawyer Don McGahn and others effectively halted Trump’s 

efforts to influence the investigation.
4. WHY BRANDS ARE ROLLING WITH STONER ‘HOLIDAY’
The once counter-culture celebration that was all about getting stoned now is so mainstream Corporate 
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America is starting to embrace it.

5. HOW CENTRAL AMERICAN MIGRANT CARAVAN FORMS
Would-be migrants create chat groups and organize using social media as they try to join together in 

large groups they hope will make the trip safer, and without having to hide from authorities.
6. MORE YELLOW VEST PROTESTS DESPITE NOTRE DAME FIRE
For many yellow vest activists, the stinging sadness that came with the devastating fire at Notre Dame 

Cathedral has quickly made way for boiling anger ahead of another round of planned protests across 
France this weekend.

7. COLUMBINE CEREMONIES BEGIN
A Colorado community changed forever by the attack that killed 13 people at Columbine High School 

moved ahead with ceremonies marking the anniversary of the tragedy.
8. COUPLE WHO SHACKLED CHILDREN FACE LIFE IN PRISON
A California couple who starved a dozen of their children and shackled some to beds face sentencing 

for years of abuse
9. WHICH NATIONAL TABLOID IS BEING SOLD
The National Enquirer is being sold to the former head of the airport newsstand company Hudson News 

following a rocky year.
10. AMERICA’S FIRST FEMALE ASTRONAUT CANDIDATE DIES
Pilot Jerrie Cobb, who pushed for equality in space but never reached its heights, has died following a 

brief illness.

Storms batter South, kill 2 in Mississippi, 1 in Alabama
By JEFF AMY and ROGELIO SOLIS Associated Press

LEARNED, Miss. (AP) — Strong storms again roared across the South on Thursday, killing two Mississippi 
drivers and a woman in Alabama while leaving more than 100,000 people without power across Alabama, 
Mississippi, Louisiana and Texas.

National Weather Service forecasters said they believe multiple tornadoes hit southwest and central 
Mississippi, although they won’t be sure until damage is surveyed. Heavy winds also were reported in 
Louisiana earlier in the day and in central Alabama as the system quickly pushed eastward. Forecasters 
predicted the system would push into Georgia before sunrise.

On the back side of the system, there were also reports late Thursday of high winds in southern Oklahoma.
A Mississippi man was killed Thursday afternoon when his car hit a tree on a highway south of Phila-

delphia, Mississippi, Neshoba County Coroner John Stephens told local news outlets. Stephens did not 
immediately release the man’s name.

Kenderick Magee, 24, was also killed while driving in the storm, WLBT-TV reported. Magee fatally crashed 
near the rural town of Gillsburg in southwest Mississippi, Amite County Coroner Campbell Sharp said.

Two minor injuries were reported in Harvey, Louisiana, a suburb of New Orleans, when a power pole 
fell on two vehicles.

Alabama authorities said a woman was killed Thursday night after strong storms knocked a tree onto 
her mobile home in St Clair County. Emergency crews found 42-year-old Monica Clements dead inside the 
home. Clements’ 10-year-old son suffered minor injuries.

Damage was heavy in the Mississippi hamlet of Learned, about 20 miles (32 kilometers) southwest of 
Jackson. Large oaks were uprooted from saturated ground, landing on at least a dozen houses.

One belongs to the family of Jesse Qualls, a Mississippi State University student who was on his way 
home for Easter when the storms hit. He says his mother had gone to pick up his sister from school and 
returned to find a pecan tree had crashed through Qualls’ bedroom and bathroom. His dog Dukey was 
uninjured.

Qualls said he got a tearful call from his mother, but he struggled to make it home, using his truck to 
push fallen trees off roads leading into town.
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“I saw the house and I started freaking out,” Qualls said, as residents and emergency workers sawed 

up other trees off streets in the 100-resident town. “My dad passed away a while ago and this is all I have 
left of him.”

Qualls, though, said his family will be fine and the storm is likely to spark a long-delayed renovation.
“We’ve got a lot of people to help,” Qualls said. He said his family likely would stay with relatives in 

nearby Clinton, where two cars were flipped in a Walmart parking lot.
To the northeast, Scott County Emergency Management Director Mike Marlow said reports indicated 

a number of homes were damaged near Morton and the roof blew off a gas station near Lena. In Phila-
delphia, Mississippi, a wall collapsed at a medical clinic and the storm knocked down traffic signals and 
canopies and pushed trees onto houses, the Neshoba Democrat reported.

Damage from the storm system was reported in at least 24 of Mississippi’s 82 counties.
Schools and colleges sent students home early across much of Louisiana, Mississippi and Alabama. In 

Jackson, state Auditor Shad White said his staff huddled in a stairway in a high-rise state office building 
while tornado sirens wailed, winds howled and rains poured. Spokeswoman Cathy Hayden said employees 
at Hinds Community College in Raymond hid in an underground bookstore storage room.

The same system produced tornadoes and hail earlier in North Texas, the Texas Panhandle, Oklahoma 
and southeastern Kansas.

Seven tornadoes were reported across the Plains from the northeastern Texas Panhandle to southeast-
ern Kansas. Strong winds hit elsewhere Wednesday evening, toppling utility poles and trees and downing 
power lines in parts of North Texas.

No significant structural damage was reported, but heavy rainfall caused flash flooding that prompted 
the shutdown of Interstate 30 in central Arkansas and the closure of several schools around Little Rock.

The National Weather Service received numerous reports of hail pelting the storm-struck areas. Egg-size 
hail was reported about 60 miles (95 kilometers) northwest of Fort Worth.

The threat came days after more than 40 tornadoes from East Texas to Georgia left at least nine dead. 
That outbreak damaged more than 250 homes, businesses and public buildings across Mississippi.

___
Amy reported from Jackson, Mississippi.

More yellow vest protests despite Notre Dame fire
By SAMUEL PETREQUIN Associated Press

PARIS (AP) — For many yellow vest protesters, the stinging sadness that came with the devastating fire 
at Notre Dame Cathedral has quickly given way to boiling anger.

Some of the activists, whose violent protests against inequality have been shaking up France for months, 
said they cried in front of their TV sets as they watched the Gothic architectural masterpiece being con-
sumed by flames Monday night.

Despite their struggles to make ends meet, some even made small donations for the restoration of the 
iconic building.

But they also felt unheard when French President Emmanuel Macron addressed the nation to speak 
about the fire, instead of laying out his response to the social crisis that has fueled their protests since 
last November.

And they felt even more outraged when, in just a few hours, billionaires pledged hundreds of millions 
of dollars (euros) to help restore the damaged cathedral while their demands remain unsatisfied in their 
longstanding fight with the French government.

“You’re there, looking at all these millions accumulating, after spending five months in the streets fighting 
social and fiscal injustice. It’s breaking my heart,” Ingrid Levavasseur, a founding leader of the movement, 
told The Associated Press ahead of another round of planned protests across France this weekend.

“What happened at Notre Dame is obviously a deplorable tragedy. But nobody died. I’ve heard someone 
speaking of national mourning. Are they out of their minds?”
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The blaze at Notre Dame has sent a shockwave through France, but Levavasseur believes the image 

of unbroken national unity that arose in the aftermath of the fire is being politically exploited by Macron.
“It took him less than 24 hours to speak about the fire, while he made us wait for three weeks before 

addressing our issues,” she said.
Decrying the struggles of low-paid workers and pensioners and accusing Macron’s government of favor-

ing the rich, yellow vest activists — named after the fluorescent jackets French motorists are required to 
keep in their cars — have been protesting for 22 consecutive weekends.

Frustrated by the lack of government response, Levavasseur has stopped attending demonstrations in 
recent weeks but is considering returning to the streets on Saturday because of an even greater sense 
of being overlooked since the Notre Dame tragedy.

And she’s not the only one feeling this way.
“The yellow vests will show their anger against the billion found in four days for stones, and nothing 

for the needy,” wrote Pierre Derrien on the Facebook page of a yellow vests group based in the southern 
city of Montpellier.

France’s richest businessman, Bernard Arnault, and his luxury goods LVMH group pledged 200 million 
euros ($226 million) for the reconstruction. Billionaire Francois Pinault and his son, Francois-Henri Pinault, 
said they were giving 100 million euros from Artemis, the holding company that owns the Christie’s auc-
tion house and the main shareholder of luxury fashion houses, including Gucci.

“If they can give dozens of millions to rebuild Notre Dame, they should stop telling us there is no money 
to respond to the social emergency,” CGT trade union leader Philippe Martinez said.

More than $1 billion has been pledged for the cathedral’s restoration, and many French citizens believe 
the money could be better spent elsewhere. Some have also criticized the billionaires’ donations because 
their pledges make them eligible for huge tax deductions. The Pinault family has said, however, they will 
not ask for a tax deduction for their donation to Notre Dame.

In fact, taxes have been one of the most pressing issues of the yellow vest movement, which has lashed 
out at Macron for favoring the rich by eliminating a wealth tax as part of his economic stimulus plan, while 
average French workers have seen their living standards decline.

Anti-rich messages have flourished on social media in recent days as yellow vest protesters coordinated 
their action for the weekend.

“A little message for all the patrons (Pinault, Arnault and the others), hospitals are on strike because 
they lack means, so if you can make a gesture...” a Facebook user wrote.

Meanwhile, dozens of others exhorted wealthy donors to be more generous with France’s underclass.
“Victor Hugo thanks all the generous donors ready to save Notre Dame and proposes that they do the 

same thing with Les Miserables,” they wrote on their social media pages, quoting French writer Ollivier 
Pourriol and his droll reference to Hugo’s famous novels about the cathedral and the lives of the poor.

Tristan, a yellow vest supporter who declined to give his full name for fear of being identified by police 
after he was banned from traveling to Paris during weekends to attend demonstrations, prefers to stay 
away from the polemics.

He made an 80-euro (nearly $90) donation to Notre Dame — quite a lot of money for the 29-year-old, 
who works in construction and does frequent night shifts to put butter on his bread.

“I’m a Catholic, I’m a regular churchgoer, and I felt personally touched,” he said. “Tears came to my 
eyes on Monday night.”

“Of course, one can ask why billionaires did not give money before to less important organizations. But 
who knows if they didn’t?” he said.

“On the other hand, what really shocked me is Macron saying Notre Dame would be rebuilt within five 
years. It’s obvious he never held a trowel in his life.”

___
Read and watch all AP coverage of the Notre Dame fire at https://apnews.com/NotreDameCathedral
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Journalist who covered Columbine wonders about lives unlived

By TED ANTHONY AP National Writer
NEW YORK (AP) — Daniel. Rachel. Isaiah.
“You can’t prove a negative,” our teachers and parents sometimes tell us when we’re young.
Yet when I look back upon my time in Colorado covering the almost-adults who were killed in the Col-

umbine High School attack 20 years ago this week, all I can see are the negatives: the people who aren’t 
there anymore. I think of their names — names I typed and said and thought of, over and over, for a time.

Corey. Kyle. Kelly.
Nearly half my life later, when I think of Columbine, it isn’t what actually happened that occupies my 

mind. Instead, my brain goes to what’s no longer there. It goes to the undefined, usually unnoticed holes 
in the fabric of today — the spaces where people I never met are missing from the world for longer than 
they were here. To the long, silent aftermaths where lives used to be. To the names that fleetingly became 
part of my moment-to-moment life and then, as for so many, receded and faded.

Cassie. Steve. Daniel again.
So often now, Americans find themselves confronting days in which shots are fired, children fall and 

futures are stolen. In moments of gunfire, worlds of possibilities are wiped away. Millions of things that 
would have happened melt into nothingness.

John. Matt. Lauren. Coach Dave.
Covering Columbine, I witnessed that feeling of unthinkable school-day chaos up close for the first time. 

Looking back, I realize now: It was, really, a preview for an entire era of tears yet to be shed, of unwel-
come gaps yet to be created. Of negatives yet to be proven.

I’ve chronicled tragedy for all of my adult life, from rural Pennsylvania to urban China, from Afghanistan 
to Iraq. During my first job as a police reporter right after college, after I returned from a particularly har-
rowing murder scene, one of my mentors said to me: “You’ll get used to it.” That turned out to be wrong.

It was never the details of tragedies that lingered with me. It was the quiet aftermaths, the times when 
families and friends began to let in that a life had ended, that a future so many loved ones had counted 
on was no longer potential but had become, purely and simply, fiction.

Would one of them have discovered a cure for cancer? Become an NBA star? Traveled the world and 
learned from its people? Raised a family, been part of a community, paid a mortgage, shopped for grocer-
ies on the weekend, coached a youth sports team?

Made the world better, smarter, kinder?
These days, one of the things I sometimes do at work is called a “gap analysis.” It’s corporate jargon for 

an exercise in identifying the places in a business where things are lacking, or needed, and it’s the first 
step toward figuring out how to make them whole.

Twenty years later, I still find myself doing a mental gap analysis of Columbine, though nothing can ever 
make anything whole. What I always come back to, which makes me dizzy, is contemplating what the 
world is lacking because these 12 young people and this teacher were abruptly removed from humanity’s 
equation one April morning as the last millennium’s final days waned. All because of two young men who 
decided that violence would be their final path forward.

I’d like to say that I understand things a bit better now. I’ve written hundreds of stories since then 
about all corners of the world. I’ve seen parts of the planet I never thought I’d see. And now I have kids 
in schools that do emergency drills as a matter of routine. It is the background hum of a world that, to 
them, has always been this way.

I’d like to say those things have helped me make sense of Columbine when I look at it over my shoulder 
from two decades on. I’d like to say that, but I’d be lying to you. I’m still trying, though. Not as a journal-
ist, necessarily, but as an American.

In daily journalism, the job is often to cover what has just happened, and it is frequently very loud. But 
more than you’d think, the quieter stories — the more important stories, even — are the ones that didn’t 
happen. Those are the more complex ones, too. And in the cacophony, they’re harder and harder to find.
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But my profession is, at its heart, a quest not only for fact but for context. And that may be where we 

can actually help.
What we can do is look back on the traumatic things we’ve covered, revisit them, study them to hone 

and sharpen what we do. We can understand that even as we show the world the facts and the stories 
behind them, we also can create unintended consequences by amplifying people and actions that can be 
held up by ailing minds as accomplishments to be replicated. And we can use this information to do it all 
better the next time.

Coach Dave. Lauren. Matt. John.
“You can’t prove a negative,” they say. Maybe not. But you can notice one, and keep noticing it.
Daniel. Steve. Cassie.
You can remember, as a journalist, the people from the stories you covered who are no longer here. 

You can wonder about their lives, and the people they left behind, and the ruthlessness of continuity 
that allows the world to fill in the gaps they left and move on to other spectacles, other triumphs, other 
tragedies and losses.

Kelly. Kyle. Corey.
And now and then, on a milestone anniversary that is no cause for celebration, you can sit in a quiet 

room and say, out loud, the names of people you never knew and hear them echo in a world that no 
longer contains them.

Isaiah. Rachel. Daniel. Again.
___
Ted Anthony, director of digital innovation for The Associated Press, covered the Columbine High School 

shootings and their aftermath in 1999. Follow him on Twitter at @anthonyted

How does a Central American migrant caravan form?
By MARIA VERZA and MARCOS ALEMAN Associated Press

SAN SALVADOR, El Salvador (AP) — “When does the next caravan leave?” ‘’Can I go? I’m from Guate-
mala.” ‘’What papers do I need for my kids?”

The questions pile up on the phones of hundreds of Central Americans, all with the same goal: Get as 
many details as possible before leaving their country.

Costly phone calls with relatives and friends in the United States to work out the route or find the best 
smuggler are a thing of the past for many Central Americans. Now would-be migrants create chat groups 
and organize using social media to leave in caravans.

“The social networks have had an empowering role in this new way of migrating,” said Abbdel Camargo, 
an anthropologist at the College of the Southern Border in Mexico. “They organize themselves en masse in 
their home countries, formed by entire families, and the networks serve them as a mechanism for safety 
and communication throughout the journey.”

The roots of the migrant caravan phenomenon began years ago when activists organized processions 
- often with a religious theme - during Holy Week to dramatize the hardships and needs of migrants. A 
minority of those involved wound up traveling all the way to the U.S. border.

That changed last year: On Oct. 13, hundreds of people walked out of Honduras and as the days passed 
and they crossed Guatemala, the group grew to more than 7,000 migrants. U.S. President Donald Trump 
seized on the new phenomenon to ramp up his anti-immigrant policies.

Since then, and parallel to the usual clandestine migrant flow north, smaller caravans have continued to 
leave the so-called Northern Triangle of Honduras, El Salvador and Guatemala.

And increasingly they’re organized over Facebook and WhatsApp as they try to join together in large 
groups they hope will make the trip safer, and without having to hide from authorities.

The most recent caravan left the bus station in San Pedro Sula in northern Honduras on April 10, and 
journalists from The Associated Press have been following various online migrant chats since late March.

“Anyone know anything about the caravan leaving on the 10th? They say the mother of all caravans is 
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going,” one message said.

Élmer Alberto Cardona, a 27-year-old shopkeeper from Honduras, saw an announcement on Facebook 
just days after being deported from the U.S. to San Pedro Sula and said he didn’t think twice: He collected 
his three children, ages 3, 6 and 9, and headed north again on April 10.

He and his wife had left with the first caravan in October and made it to Tijuana, across the border from 
California. They obtained Mexican humanitarian visas that allowed them to temporarily live and work lo-
cally, but decided to cross the border and turn themselves over to U.S. border agents to request asylum.

It didn’t go well and they were detained in facilities in different states. He was deported first and his wife 
was still locked up when he started the journey again, this time with his children.

“I think it will go better this time; it looks like a lot of people are getting together,” he said by phone 
near the Honduras-Guatemala border.

It’s not clear who is launching the chats. The AP called the number of the person who created one of the 
WhatsApp chats. The woman who answered said her husband had lived in the U.S. for eight years, was 
deported and now wanted to return. After a few minutes, a male voice was heard and then she suddenly 
hung up and no one answered again.

In that group, members give bits of advice: Everyone should bring their passports and those thinking of 
traveling with children or coming from far away should arrive a day before the caravan leaves. “To take a 
child you just need a passport and permission if the mother isn’t going.” ‘’Take a photo with the mother 
and the baby.”

Some chats appear to be created for a set departure date. Others remain active from earlier caravans 
or with an eye toward future ones. They usually have various administrators who give advice from points 
on the route. WhatsApp group members’ phone numbers are from Honduras, El Salvador, Guatemala, 
Mexico and even the United States. Friends and relatives share invitations.

People aren’t afraid to ask delicate questions in the chats: “Group, in Mexico can you find someone to 
take you to the other side?” And suspicions come out: “Don’t trust.” ‘’Remember that in Mexico there are a 
lot of kidnappings.” “’There are no coordinators, that’s what people have to say so there aren’t problems.”

The messages also explore ways to seek protection against the robberies, extortion, kidnappings that 
have long plagued those crossing Mexico. Some express fear that the gangs have tried to infiltrate: “This 
dude works with the Zetas, a friend of mine from Olancho told me he knows him and that he’s still with 
them,” said someone who shared a photo of the alleged criminal.

Attention to the recent caravans soared in late March, when Mexican Interior Secretary, Olga Sánchez 
Cordero met with then-Homeland Security Secretary Kirstjen Nielsen, and without giving details, said that 
“the mother of all caravans” was forming with more than 20,000 people.

Shortly thereafter, Trump threatened again to close the border with Mexico and suspend aid to El Sal-
vador, Guatemala and Honduras.

While some in the group that left San Pedro Sula referred to it as “the mother of all caravans,” it had 
fewer than 3,000 people when it arrived at the Mexican border.

The caravans often grow when they reach Mexico because other migrants who are already waiting in 
the border area tend to join. As of mid-April, there were more than 8,000 migrants, including those who 
left San Pedro Sula on April 10, at various places in the southern state of Chiapas, according to Mexico’s 
National Human Rights Commission.

For those hoping to join, the chats provide information in real time about where to meet up — “Caravan 
where are you going?” ‘’We’re waiting for you here” — and also about roadblocks, places in Mexico where 
visas are being processed or sites where there’s been a problem.

Members also upload photos and videos to let their families know where they are and how they’re doing.
And though the April 10 caravan is still in southern Mexico, people in some groups are about forming 

others: “Another is leaving April 30, Salvadoran friends.”
___
Verza reported from Mexico City.
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A beleaguered Trump feared ‘the end of my presidency’

By CALVIN WOODWARD Associated Press
WASHINGTON (AP) — At the moment two years ago when Donald Trump learned a special counsel had 

been appointed to investigate his campaign and Russia, the president responded with profane fury — and 
something resembling panic.

He feared his presidency, then only a few months old, was over. He berated aides for not protecting 
him. His cocky assurance was nowhere in sight.

The Oval Office scene that day is vividly reconstructed in special counsel Robert Mueller’s report, released 
Thursday. Mueller traces how, at perilous turns in the Russia episode, aides took the brunt of Trump’s rage 
yet acted to save the president from himself — at times by letting his orders go unheeded and, at least 
in one instance, declining an entreaty to lie on his behalf.

On May 17, 2017, Trump was in the Oval Office with his attorney general, Jeff Sessions, Sessions’ chief 
of staff Jody Hunt and White House lawyer Don McGahn, conducting interviews for a new FBI director 
to replace James Comey, whom Trump had fired eight days earlier. Sessions left the room to take a call 
from his deputy, Rod Rosenstein, and returned to tell the president that Rosenstein had informed him of 
the special counsel appointment.

“The President slumped back in his chair,” Mueller wrote in his report, “and said, ‘Oh my God. This is 
terrible. This is the end of my Presidency. I’m f---ed. This is the worst thing that ever happened to me.’” 
(Mueller quotes the full profanity.)

“The President became angry and lambasted the Attorney General for his decision to recuse from the 
investigation, stating, ‘How could you let this happen, Jeff?’”

The reconstruction was based primarily on accounts from Hunt, with Sessions also supplying detail to 
Mueller’s team. Sessions said Trump asked for his resignation but when he brought him a letter of resig-
nation the next day, the president had changed his mind.

Trump adviser Hope Hicks, describing the aftermath of that meeting to Mueller’s team, said she had 
only seen Trump that upset once before — when the “Access Hollywood” tape came out in the campaign, 
revealing Trump’s coarse comments about imposing himself on women.

Sessions had stepped away from Russia matters because his work on the Trump campaign raised ques-
tions of conflict of interest. He withstood searing heat from Trump over that move and pressure, both 
public and private, to reverse his recusal until he was finally forced out late last year.

Some other aides, too, refused to be compliant at major moments.
The report states that in the days after Mueller’s appointment, Trump opened an effort to discredit the 

special counsel, but ran into a wall from senior advisers such as McGahn, Steve Bannon and Reince Prie-
bus, who was then chief of staff.

“The President told senior advisors that the Special Counsel had conflicts of interest,” the report says, “but 
they responded that those claims were ‘ridiculous’ and posed no obstacle to the Special Counsel’s service.”

Then, a month into Mueller’s work, Trump moved to get him fired.
The report says that on June 17, 2017, Trump called McGahn at home and directed him to contact Rosen-

stein and tell him the special counsel must be removed.
“You gotta do this,” Trump told McGahn, according to the lawyer’s recollection to Mueller’s team.
“McGahn was perturbed by the call and did not intend to act on the request,” the report says.
Trump pressed the point with a follow-up call.
“Mueller has to go,” McGahn recalled Trump saying. Then: “Call me back when you do it.”
McGahn never did it.
And when early 2018 came around, Trump wanted McGahn to issue a denial that he’d ever been asked 

to press for Mueller’s removal in the first place. He summoned the lawyer to the Oval Office.
Again, no luck.
“McGahn refused to back away from what he remembered happening,” the report says, “and perceived 

the President to be testing his mettle.”
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Mueller reveals Trump’s attempts to choke off Russia probe

By NANCY BENAC, CHAD DAY, ERIC TUCKER and MICHAEL BALSAMO Associated Press
WASHINGTON (AP) — Public at last, special counsel Robert Mueller’s report revealed to a waiting na-

tion Thursday that President Donald Trump tried to seize control of the Russia probe and force Mueller’s 
removal to stop him from investigating potential obstruction of justice by the president. Trump was largely 
thwarted by those around him who refused to go along.

Mueller laid out multiple episodes in which Trump directed others to influence or curtail the Russia inves-
tigation after the special counsel’s appointment in May 2017. Those efforts “were mostly unsuccessful, but 
that is largely because the persons who surrounded the President declined to carry out orders or accede 
to his requests,” Mueller wrote.

After nearly two years, the two-volume, 448-page redacted report made for riveting reading.
In one particularly dramatic moment, Mueller reported that Trump was so agitated at the special coun-

sel’s appointment on May 17, 2017, that he slumped back in his chair and declared: “Oh my God. This is 
terrible. This is the end of my presidency. I’m f---ed.”

With that, Trump set out to save himself.
In June of that year, Mueller wrote, Trump directed White House Counsel Don McGahn to call Deputy 

Attorney General Rod Rosenstein, who oversaw the probe, and say that Mueller must be ousted because 
he had conflicts of interest. McGahn refused — deciding he would sooner resign than trigger a potential 
crisis akin to the Saturday Night Massacre of firings during the Watergate era.

Two days later, the president made another attempt to alter the course of the investigation, meeting 
with former campaign manager Corey Lewandowski and dictating a message for him to relay to then-
Attorney General Jeff Sessions. The message: Sessions would publicly call the investigation “very unfair” 
to the president, declare Trump did nothing wrong and say Mueller should limit his probe to “investigating 
election meddling for future elections.” The message was never delivered.

The report’s bottom line largely tracked the findings revealed in Attorney General William Barr’s four-
page memo released a month ago — no collusion with Russia but no clear verdict on obstruction — but 
it added new layers of detail about Trump’s efforts to thwart the investigation. Looking ahead, both sides 
were already using the findings to amplify well-rehearsed arguments about Trump’s conduct, Republicans 
casting him as a victim of harassment and Democrats depicting the president as stepping far over the 
line to derail the investigation.

The Justice Department released its redacted version of the report about 90 minutes after Barr offered 
his own final assessment of the findings at a testy news conference. The nation, Congress and Trump’s 
White House consumed it voraciously — online, via a compact disc delivered to legislators and in loose-
leaf binders distributed to reporters.

The release represented a moment of closure nearly two years in the making but also the starting bell 
for a new round of partisan warfare.

A defiant Trump pronounced it “a good day” and tweeted “Game Over” in a typeface mimicking the 
“Game of Thrones” logo. By late afternoon, he was airborne for his Mar-a-Lago private club in Florida with 
wife Melania for the holiday weekend.

Top Republicans in Congress saw vindication, too.
House Minority Leader Kevin McCarthy said it was time to move on from Democrats’ effort to “vilify 

a political opponent.” The California lawmaker said the report failed to deliver the “imaginary evidence” 
incriminating Trump that Democrats had sought.

Trump campaign manager Brad Parscale said Republicans should turn the tables and “investigate the 
liars who instigated this sham investigation.”

But Democrats cried foul over Barr’s preemptive press conference and said the report revealed troubling 
details about Trump’s conduct in the White House.



Friday, April 19, 2019 ~ Vol. 27 - No. 283 ~ 36 of 68

Groton Daily Independent
In a joint statement, House Speaker Nancy Pelosi and Senate Democratic leader Chuck Schumer wrote 

that “one thing is clear: Attorney General Barr presented a conclusion that the president did not obstruct 
justice while Mueller’s report appears to undercut that finding.”

House Judiciary Chairman Jerrold Nadler added that the report “outlines disturbing evidence that President 
Trump engaged in obstruction of justice and other misconduct.” He sent a letter to the Justice Department 
requesting that Mueller himself testify before his panel “no later than May 23” and said he’d be issuing a 
subpoena for the full special counsel report and the underlying materials.

Signaling battles ahead, Nadler earlier called the investigation “incredibly thorough” work that would 
preserve evidence for future probes.

Barr said he wouldn’t object to Mueller testifying.
Trump himself was never questioned in person, but the report’s appendix includes 12 pages of his writ-

ten responses to queries from Mueller’s team.
Mueller deemed Trump’s written answers — rife with iterations of “I don’t recall” — to be “inadequate.” 

He considered issuing a subpoena to force the president to appear in person but decided against it after 
weighing the likelihood of a long legal battle.

In his written answers, Trump said his comment during a 2016 political rally asking Russian hackers to 
help find emails scrubbed from Hillary Clinton’s private server was made “in jest and sarcastically” and 
said he did not recall being told during the campaign of any Russian effort to infiltrate or hack computer 
systems.

But Mueller said that within five hours of Trump’s comment, Russian military intelligence officers were 
targeting email accounts connected to Clinton’s office.

Mueller evaluated nearly a dozen episodes for possible obstruction of justice, and said he could not con-
clusively determine that Trump had committed criminal obstruction. The episodes included Trump’s firing 
of FBI Director James Comey, the president’s directive to subordinates to have Mueller fired and efforts 
to encourage witnesses not to cooperate.

Sessions was so affected by Trump’s frequent criticism of him for recusing himself from the investigation 
that he kept a resignation letter “with him in his pocket every time he went to the White House,” Mueller 
said.

The president’s lawyers have said Trump’s conduct fell within his constitutional powers, but Mueller’s 
team deemed the episodes deserving of scrutiny for potential criminal acts.

As for the question of whether the Trump campaign had colluded with Russia during the 2016 presidential 
campaign, Mueller wrote that the campaign “expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen 
and released through Russian efforts.”

But Mueller said investigators concluded, “While the investigation identified numerous links between 
individuals with ties to the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign, the 
evidence was not sufficient to support criminal charges.”

Workers at a Russian troll farm contacted Trump’s campaign, claiming to be political activists for conser-
vative grassroots organizations, and asked for signs and other campaign materials to use at rallies. While 
volunteers provided some of those materials — and set aside a number of signs — investigators don’t 
believe any Trump campaign officials knew the requests were coming from foreign nationals, Mueller wrote.

Mueller wrote that investigators “did not establish that members of the Trump campaign conspired or 
coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities.”

Josh Blackman, a professor at the South Texas College of Law Houston, stressed that Mueller didn’t think 
the president’s obligations to run the executive branch entitled him to absolute immunity from prosecu-
tion. But to find that the president obstructed justice, he said, Mueller would have needed much clearer 
evidence that the president acted solely with “corrupt intent.”

“The evidence was sort of muddled,” Blackman said, adding that the president’s actions had multiple 
motivations.

The report laid out some of Mueller’s reasoning for drawing no conclusion on the question of obstruction.
Mueller wrote that he would have exonerated Trump if he could, but he wasn’t able to do that given the 
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evidence he uncovered. And he said the Justice Department’s standing opinion that a sitting president 
couldn’t be indicted meant he also couldn’t recommend Trump be criminally charged, even in secret.

Trump’s written responses addressed no questions about obstruction of justice, as was part of an agree-
ment with Trump’s legal team.

He told Mueller he had “no recollection” of learning in advance about the much-scrutinized Trump Tower 
meeting between campaign officials and a Russian lawyer. He also said he had no recollection of knowledge 
about emails setting up the meeting that promised dirt on Clinton’s Democratic campaign.

He broadly denied knowing of any foreign government trying to help his campaign, including the Rus-
sian government. He said he was aware of some reports that Russian President Vladimir Putin had made 
“complimentary statements” about him.

It wasn’t just Trump under the microscope. But Mueller wrote that he believed prosecutors would be 
unlikely to meet the burden of proof to show that Donald Trump Jr. and other participants in the Trump 
Tower meeting “had general knowledge that their conduct was unlawful.” Nor did Mueller’s probe develop 
evidence that they knew that foreign contributions to campaigns were illegal or other particulars of federal 
law.

Barr’s contention that the report contained only “limited redactions” applied more to the obstruction of 
justice section than its look at Russian election meddling. Overall, about 40 percent of the pages contained 
at least something that was blocked out, mostly to protect ongoing investigations. Barr had said that he 
would redact grand jury information and material related to investigations, privacy and intelligence.

___
AP writers Zeke Miller, Mary Clare Jalonick, Lisa Mascaro, Dustin Weaver, Deb Riechmann, Susannah 

George, Michael R. Sisak, Stephen Braun, Jill Colvin, Jonathan Lemire, Darlene Superville, Jessica Gresko, 
Mark Sherman, Julie Pace and Elizabeth Kennedy contributed to this report.

___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

Analysis: Mueller paints a damning portrait of the president
By JULIE PACE AP Washington Bureau Chief

WASHINGTON (AP) — To Donald Trump, the start of special counsel Robert Mueller’s investigation looked 
alarmingly like the end of his presidency. So he tried to stop it.

His months-long effort pushed the boundaries of presidential powers and the law, revealing a commander 
in chief consumed by self-interest and intent on having his top lieutenants lie or obfuscate on his behalf. 
The fact that many refused to do so may have helped save Trump from being charged with obstructing 
justice.

Those advisers effectively served as the guardrails in a White House that often seems to have none. A 
White House counsel who told the president he would rather resign than oust Mueller. A senior West Wing 
aide who quietly ignored a request to pass messages to the attorney general, who had already recused 
himself from the investigation.

“The incidents were often carried out through one-on-one meetings in which the president sought to 
use his official power outside of usual channels,” Mueller wrote in his redacted 448-page report.

The episodes detailed by the special counsel paint a damning portrait of a president consumed by the 
investigation. Even after more than two years of revelations about Trump’s willingness to lie or press oth-
ers to do so, Mueller’s report put into sharp focus the president’s disregard for governing norms and his 
willingness to challenge both legal and political limits.

Trump and his advisers can herald the fact that two years of investigation ended without criminal charges 
for the president, not only on obstruction but also on criminal conspiracy with Russia to help him win the 
2016 election. Though numerous people with ties to Trump — including former national security adviser 
Michael Flynn and ex-campaign chairman Paul Manafort — did plead guilty to crimes, no Americans were 
indicted for colluding with Moscow.
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“His greatest rebuttal will be he’s in office, he’s going to remain in office and he’ll get re-elected because 

the Democrats have nothing,” Kellyanne Conway, a senior White House adviser, said of the president.
Indeed, the Democrats’ next steps are unclear. Some lawmakers will likely continue to press for impeach-

ment proceedings, though party leaders are skeptical of that approach. House Judiciary Chairman Jerrold 
Nadler has requested that Mueller testify before his committee within weeks and plans to subpoena for 
the full report and underlying evidence.

Yet the end of Mueller’s investigation did more than answer questions about whether Trump and his 
associates committed crimes. The probe underscored just how far Trump has gone in pushing the limits 
of the presidency and encouraging others to help him do so.

Rep. Adam Schiff, Democratic chair of the House intelligence committee, said that while Trump’s actions 
may not have been criminal, they were “dishonest, unethical, immoral and unpatriotic.”

Trump’s actions were in line with his behavior as a businessman, when he employed a team of lawyers 
and fixers to protect him from legal trouble. One of those longtime confidants, lawyer Michael Cohen, was 
brought down in an investigation stemming from Mueller’s probe, centering on hush money payments he 
made during the 2016 campaign to women who alleged sexual relationships with Trump.

In other facets of his administration, Trump has also pressed legal bounds. He has repeatedly directed 
immigration advisers to take actions they deemed illegal, including blocking all migrants from seeking 
asylum. When it became clear in recent weeks that those advisers would not follow his orders, he ordered 
an overhaul of the top echelons of the Department of Homeland Security.

There were clear echoes of that behavior throughout Mueller’s report.
The most startling episode came in June 2017, when Trump directed White House Counsel Don McGahn 

to call Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein, who oversaw the probe, and say that Mueller must be 
ousted because he had conflicts of interest. McGahn refused — deciding he would rather resign than trig-
ger a potential constitutional crisis.

Two days later, the president tried another avenue to alter the investigation. During a meeting with former 
campaign manager Corey Lewandowski, he dictated a message for Lewandowski to relay to then-Attorney 
General Jeff Sessions. Though Sessions had already recused himself from the investigation, Trump was 
ordering him to publicly call the probe “very unfair” to the president, declare Trump did nothing wrong 
and say that Mueller should limit his probe to “investigating election meddling for future elections.”

Lewandowski didn’t want to deliver the message, according to Mueller, so he asked senior White House 
official Rick Dearborn to do so. Dearborn was uncomfortable with the request, Mueller writes, and did not 
follow through.

Most of the advisers who blocked Trump’s requests have since left his administration.
___
EDITOR’S NOTE — AP Washington Bureau Chief Julie Pace has covered the White House and politics 

since 2007. Follow her at http://twitter.com/jpaceDC
___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

‘A good day’: Trump claims victory with Mueller report out
By JONATHAN LEMIRE, JILL COLVIN and DARLENE SUPERVILLE Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — For nearly two years, President Donald Trump and his allies sought to undermine 
special counsel Robert Mueller’s Russia probe, attacking investigators’ credibility and playing down their 
findings. As a redacted version of Mueller’s report was finally released Thursday, Trump resorted to bluster, 
broadsides and falsehoods to try, once more, to frame the moment as a political victory.

It began even before the public glimpsed the two volumes covering 448 pages . The report included 
an account of how the president attempted to seize control of the investigation into Russian interference 
in the 2016 U.S. election and force out Mueller from leading the inquiry. But that didn’t stop Trump from 
taking a public victory lap, declaring at a White House event that he was having “a good day.”
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Twelve times Trump took to Twitter in the hours before Attorney General William Barr outlined the find-

ings of the report. The president proclaimed his innocence and insisted that the investigation was politically 
motivated. As soon as Barr concluded his remarks, and more than an hour before Mueller’s report was 
released, Trump tweeted a taunt over an image inspired by the HBO show “Game of Thrones.”

“No Collusion. No Obstruction,” it said. “For the haters and the radical left Democrats — Game Over.”
But the report does recount how Trump repeatedly sought to intervene in a probe that has hovered over 

the first two years of his presidency. And it says Trump had been agitated by the investigation from the 
start, reporting that Trump reacted to Mueller’s appointment by saying it was the “end of his presidency.”

At Justice Department headquarters, reporters buzzed around as they awaited Barr and then the Mueller 
report. A few blocks away, there was calm on one of the defining days of Trump’s presidency.

The news media were led into the White House East Room, just before the report came out, for Trump’s 
appearance with wounded warriors. While newsrooms across the country digested the report, the White 
House guests, already seated while waiting for the president to arrive, were entertained by the U.S. Marine 
Band. Among the selections played: “Somewhere Over the Rainbow.”

“Knockout,” read a text message from Rudy Giuliani, one of the president’s attorneys, to reporters after 
Barr finished speaking.

A further statement from Giuliani and Trump’s lawyers said “the report itself is nothing more than an 
attempt to rehash old allegations” and insisted that “the results of the investigation are a total victory for 
the president.”

Current and former White House officials eagerly rushed through the report. They scanned for their names 
to see what Mueller had said about them and how he had characterized their testimony, and wondered 
how those depictions might sit with a mercurial president.

Staffers had been told by the White House to cooperate fully with Mueller’s team and answer their ques-
tions truthfully. But many were nervous about how Trump would react to their testimony and whether it 
would damage their relationships with him.

Talking points went out to Trump allies while his supporters’ phones buzzed with text messages from 
the campaign looking to raise money off Thursday’s developments.

“Now the tables have turned, and it’s time to investigate the liars who instigated this sham investiga-
tion into President Trump, motivated by political retribution and based on no evidence whatsoever,” said 
Trump’s re-election campaign manager, Brad Parscale.

Donald Trump Jr, the president’s eldest son, was featured prominently in the report for meeting with 
a Kremlin-connected lawyer at Trump Tower in June 2016. Though the report said “the campaign antici-
pated receiving derogatory documents and information” from Russians that “could assist Trump’s electoral 
prospects,” it said “the government would unlikely be able to prove beyond a reasonable doubt” that the 
participants at that meeting “had general knowledge that their conduct was unlawful.”

Though a seemingly backhanded exoneration, the younger Trump tweeted a series of attacks on Demo-
crats. “Better luck next hoax!” he said.

Senior White House adviser Kellyanne Conway said that because the White House didn’t interfere with 
Mueller’s work, that “should make people feel good about democracy.”

“We’re accepting apologies today, too,” Conway told reporters, adding that Trump watched Barr, talked 
to his lawyers and was in “a great mood.”

The president, who normally talks to reporters on his way out of the White House, declined to speak as 
he left to spend the Easter weekend in Florida. But from Air Force One, he tweeted: “I had the right to 
end the whole Witch Hunt if I wanted. I could have fired everyone, including Mueller, if I wanted. I chose 
not to. I had the RIGHT to use Executive Privilege. I didn’t!”

Appearing relaxed earlier Friday at a military event, Trump said a statue he’d been presented with as a 
memento would have a permanent home “at least for six years, in the Oval Office.”

As the audience applauded and laughed, Trump said he was going to joke and say “at least for 10 or 14 
years, but we would cause bedlam if I said that.”

___
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Lemire reported from New York.
___
Follow Lemire on Twitter at http://twitter.com/@JonLemire , Colvin at http://twitter.com/@colvinj and 

Superville at http://twitter.com/@dsupervilleap
___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to: https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

AP FACT CHECK: Skewed Trump, Barr claims on Mueller report
By HOPE YEN Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — President Donald Trump and his attorney general are distorting the facts when 
it comes to special counsel Robert Mueller’s report in the Russia investigation.

Trump and his team continue to insist that he was exonerated by the two-year investigation. That’s not 
true. The report specifically declines to clear the president on possible charges of obstruction of justice.

And in remarks Thursday at the Justice Department, Attorney General William Barr made a series of 
false claims, suggesting that Mueller did not want Congress to decide whether Trump obstructed justice. 
Barr also indicated that he was not really supposed to be publicly releasing the two-volume report , but, 
on the other hand, it was “long-standing” practice to share such types of confidential information with the 
White House. He’s wrong on all those fronts.

A look at the claims:
BARR, asked if Mueller intended for Congress, not the attorney general, to decide whether Trump ob-

structed justice: “Well, Special Counsel Mueller did not indicate that his purpose was to leave the decision 
to Congress. I hope that was not his view. ... I didn’t talk to him directly about the fact that we were 
making the decision, but I am told that his reaction to that was that it was my prerogative as attorney 
general to make that decision.”

THE FACTS: Mueller’s report actually does indicate that Congress could make that determination.
The report states that no person is above the law, including the president, and that the Constitution 

“does not categorically and permanently immunize a President for obstructing justice.”
In his four-page memo last month, Barr said while Mueller left open the question of whether Trump 

broke the law and obstructed the investigation, he was ultimately deciding as attorney general that the 
evidence developed by Mueller was “not sufficient” to establish, for the purposes of prosecution, that 
Trump obstructed justice.

But the special counsel’s report specifies that Congress can also render a judgment on that question.
It says: “The conclusion that Congress may apply obstruction laws to the President’s corrupt exercise of 

the powers of office accords with our constitutional system of checks and balances and the principle that 
no person is above the law.”

___
TRUMP: “As I have been saying all along, NO COLLUSION - NO OBSTRUCTION!” — tweet Thursday.
VICE PRESIDENT MIKE PENCE: “Today’s release of the Special Counsel’s report confirms what the Presi-

dent and I have said since day one: there was no collusion between the Trump campaign and Russia and 
there was no obstruction of justice.”

KELLYANNE CONWAY, White House counselor: “What matters is what the Department of Justice and 
special counsel concluded here, which is no collusion, no obstruction, and complete exoneration, as the 
president says.”

THE FACTS: No. The special counsel specifically leaves open the question of whether the president 
obstructed justice.

“If we had confidence after a thorough investigation of the facts that the President clearly did not commit 
obstruction of justice, we would so state. Based on the facts and the applicable legal standards, however, 
we are unable to reach that judgment,” the report states.

The report identifies 10 instances of possible obstruction by Trump and said he might have “had a mo-
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tive” to impede the investigation because of what it could find on a multitude of personal matters, such 
as his proposal to build a Trump Tower in Moscow.

“The evidence does indicate that a thorough FBI investigation would uncover facts about the campaign 
and the President personally that the President could have understood to be crimes or that would give 
rise to personal and political concerns,” the report states.

In explaining its decision, Mueller’s team said reaching a conclusion on whether Trump committed crimes 
would be inappropriate because of Justice Department guidelines indicating that a sitting president should 
not be prosecuted. It nevertheless left open at least the theoretical possibility that Trump could be charged 
after he leaves office, noting that its factual investigation was conducted “in order to preserve the evidence 
when memories were fresh and documentary material were available.”

“Accordingly, while this report does not conclude that the President committed a crime, it also does not 
exonerate him,” the report states.

___
BARR: “These reports are not supposed to be made public.”
THE FACTS: He’s not going out on a limb for public disclosure.
Justice Department regulations give Barr wide authority to release a special counsel’s report in situa-

tions it “would be in the public interest.” Barr had made clear during his Senate confirmation hearing in 
January that he believed in transparency with the report on Mueller’s investigation into Russian election 
interference during the 2016 campaign, “consistent with regulations and the law.”

___
BARR, saying it was “consistent with long-standing practice” for him to share a copy of the redacted 

report with the White House and president’s attorneys before its release: “Earlier this week, the president’s 
personal counsel requested and were given the opportunity to read a final version of the redacted report 
before it was publicly released. That request was consistent with the practice followed under the Ethics 
in Government Act, which permitted individuals named in a report prepared by an independent counsel 
the opportunity to read the report before publication.”

THE FACTS: Actually, Barr’s decision, citing the Ethics in Government Act, is inconsistent with indepen-
dent counsel Ken Starr’s handling of his report into whether President Bill Clinton obstructed and lied in 
Starr’s probe.

On Sept. 7, 1998, Clinton’s attorney David Kendall requested that Starr provide him an opportunity to 
review the report before it was sent to Congress. Starr quickly turned him down.

“As a matter of legal interpretation, I respectfully disagree with your analysis,” Starr wrote to Kendall 
two days later. Starr called Kendall “mistaken” regarding the rights of the president’s attorneys to “review 
a ‘report’ before it is transmitted to Congress.”

Starr’s report was governed by the ethics act cited by Barr as his justification for showing the report to 
the president’s team. It has since expired. Current regulations governing Mueller’s work don’t specify how 
confidential information should be shared with the White House.

Starr’s report led to the impeachment trial of Clinton in 1999.
___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations
Find AP Fact Checks at http://apne.ws/2kbx8bd
Follow @APFactCheck on Twitter: https://twitter.com/APFactCheck

St Patrick’s suspect previously arrested at other cathedral
By DAVID PORTER and MICHAEL R. SISAK Associated Press

NEW YORK (AP) — A college philosophy teacher arrested after entering St. Patrick’s Cathedral carrying 
two cans of gasoline, lighter fluid and butane lighters had also been arrested at a New Jersey cathedral 
this week and had booked a Thursday flight to Rome, the New York Police Department said.

Marc Lamparello, 37, is facing charges including attempted arson and reckless endangerment after his 
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arrest Wednesday night at the New York City landmark, said John Miller, the New York Police Department’s 
deputy commissioner of intelligence and counterterrorism.

It happened just days after Notre Dame Cathedral in Paris was ravaged by a fire that investigators said 
Thursday was most likely electrical. Miller would not discuss anything Lamparello told investigators after 
his arrest but stressed that there “doesn’t appear to be any connection to any terrorist group or any 
terrorist-related intent here.”

Before going to St. Patrick’s on Wednesday, Miller said, Lamparello booked a $2,800 ticket on a 5:20 
p.m. Thursday flight to Italy. Asked if Lamparello indicated what he planned to do in Rome, Miller said, 
“I’m not going to get into that right now.”

Lamparello remained in police custody Thursday and had not been arraigned.
It wasn’t immediately clear whether Lamparello had a lawyer who could speak for him. A man leaving 

his parents’ house Thursday in Hasbrouck Heights, New Jersey, close to New York City, had no comment 
for a reporter when asked about Lamparello.

Lamparello “wasn’t weird,” said a neighbor, Salvatore Altomare, adding that he “seemed like ... a nice 
guy, walked a straight line.”

Altomare described the family as “very good people. ... They’re real Americans — try to do the right thing.”
Two nights before his arrest in New York — and hours after footage of Notre Dame burning was shown 

around the world — police in Newark arrested Lamparello after he wouldn’t leave the Cathedral Basilica of 
the Sacred Heart at closing time after a late Mass. Essex County Sheriff Armando Fontoura said Thursday 
that Lamparello was calm and respectful to the officers but was adamant about not leaving.

“He said, ‘This is a house of God, it should be open, I’m not leaving. You’ll have to lock me up,’” Fontoura 
said.

After he was charged with three minor offenses including defiant trespass, emergency medical services 
personnel examined Lamparello and determined he wasn’t a threat. Lamparello’s mother arrived and the 
two drove back to Hasbrouck Heights in his van, according to Fontoura.

“There was no reason to check the van at that point,” he said.
Lamparello is a philosophy instructor who has taught at New York City’s Lehman and Brooklyn colleges 

and Seton Hall University in New Jersey. Lehman’s website listed him as a Ph.D. candidate at the City 
University of New York’s Graduate Center.

In a statement, Lehman College spokesperson Sarah Ramsey said, “We are aware that an individual 
was arrested last night after an incident at St. Patrick’s Cathedral. The individual was hired at Lehman 
College during this academic year, and was a part-time, online instructor this semester. We are taking the 
appropriate steps to terminate the individual’s employment with the college.”

A page on Amazon.com describes Lamparello’s 2016 book, “Reason and Counterpoint,” as offering “am-
bitious and highly creative answers to some of the most vexing philosophical questions.” The same page 
says Lamparello has been working on another book project described as “a witty dialogue on arguments 
for and against the existence of God.”

Miller said surveillance camera footage showed Lamparello circling St. Patrick’s several times in a mini-
van well over an hour before he parked outside the cathedral on Fifth Avenue, walked around the area, 
returned to his vehicle, and retrieved the gasoline and lighter fluid.

When he entered the church, he was confronted by a security officer, who notified counterterrorism of-
ficers standing outside. Lamparello told the officers his car was out of gas and headed in a direction away 
from where he was parked, Miller said.

Officers found his vehicle and determined it was not out of gas, Miller said.
___
David Porter reported from Hasbrouck Heights, New Jersey. Associated Press researcher Rhonda Shafner 

and writer Deepti Hajela contributed to this report.

Redactions heavier on Russian meddling than on obstruction
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By STEPHEN BRAUN Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — Across nearly 450 pages, blocks of black interrupt parts of Robert Mueller’s care-
ful, dry narrative recounting Russian election meddling and President Donald Trump’s fear and ire. Most 
often, the Justice Department redactions mask a few words or paragraphs. In a few spots, they stretch 
for an entire page.

Attorney General William Barr said the report released Thursday was marred only by “limited redactions,” 
but that’s true only for the part of the report dealing with possible obstruction by Trump. An Associated 
Press analysis of the full document shows that nearly two-thirds of the section dealing with Russia’s med-
dling — 139 pages out of 199 —had some form of redaction.

By comparison, only 24 out of 182 pages in the obstruction section were at least partially masked, the 
AP analysis shows.

The disparity reflects concerns over disclosing intelligence and ongoing law enforcement matters related 
to Russian interference in the election and, to a lesser degree, exposing grand jury testimony. The AP 
analysis showed that nearly 40% of the report’s entire 448 pages — including its two main sections, ap-
pendixes and even its table of contents — had redactions.

The blacked-out passages leave factual holes that force readers to guess Mueller’s intent. Even before 
the report’s release, the redactions were at the core of a political battle pitting the Trump administration 
against skeptical Democratic lawmakers, who have insisted on the release of the full report. They are 
expected to wage a court fight over it, testing the limits of presidential authority. Barr has promised to 
provide congressional leaders with a version of the report containing fewer redactions, but it’s not clear 
if this will satisfy Democrats.

Barr said his department had to redact material related to grand jury proceedings, ongoing investiga-
tions, privacy issues and intelligence, but said the redactions were limited.

“Given the limited nature of the redactions, I believe that the publicly released report will allow every 
American to understand the results of the special counsel’s investigation,” Barr said in a news conference 
shortly before the redacted report was released.

Several blacked-out passages refer to efforts by the Trump campaign to keep apprised of WikiLeaks 
dumps of emails and other materials related to Hillary and her campaign. The passages refer to now-
convicted former Trump campaign Chairman Paul Manafort and to other campaign aides and allies.

Those references are likely related to the Mueller team’s investigation into the activities of long-time 
Trump ally Roger Stone, who faces charges stemming from conversations he had during the campaign 
about WikiLeaks

Some pages that are almost entirely blacked out appear to mask the Mueller team’s narrative concerning 
efforts by a secretive Russian tech team known as the Internet Research Agency to interfere in the 2016 
election on the side of the Trump campaign.

In referencing Yevgeniy Prigozhin, an oligarch who funded that group, Justice officials blacked out details 
about his ties to Russian President Vladimir Putin. Prigozhin is under indictment, but is not in U.S. custody.

“Harm to Ongoing Matter,” the blacked out section noted.
___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

For school shooting survivors, trauma has no time limit
By TERRY SPENCER, KELLI KENNEDY and COLLEEN SLEVIN Associated Press

PARKLAND, Fla. (AP) — Alex Rozenblat can still hear the cries of a wounded boy calling for help as she 
hid from the gunfire that killed 17 people at Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School last year.

Talking to therapists at the school in Parkland, Florida, didn’t help. Each session had a different coun-
selor, and she found herself rehashing traumas she had already expressed. She would rather turn to her 
friends, who understand what she went through.

“There is slight pressure to get better as quickly as you can, and since it’s been a year, everyone thinks 
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that you are better,” the 16-year-old said.

The mental health resources after a school shooting range from therapy dogs and grief counselors at 
school to support groups, art therapy and in-home counseling. But there is no blueprint for dealing with 
the trauma because each tragedy, survivor and community is different. Many survivors don’t get counsel-
ing right away — sometimes waiting years — making it difficult to understand the full impact.

The struggle is getting them to seek help in the first place. In the two decades since the Columbine 
High School massacre, a network of survivors has emerged, reaching out to the newest victims to offer 
support that many say they prefer to traditional therapy.

As the anguish festers, the danger grows, illustrated by the recent suicides of two Marjory Stoneman 
Douglas survivors and a father whose young child died in the shooting at Sandy Hook Elementary in 
Newtown, Connecticut.

“It changes the community,” said psychologist Robin Gurwitch, a trauma specialist at Duke University 
Medical Center.

Grief, troubling memories and emotions can bubble up any time for survivors and even community 
members who didn’t see the bullets fly, she said. They can hit on anniversaries of the tragedy, birthdays 
of victims, graduations and new mass shootings, Gurwitch said. The trauma can even rush back with a 
song, favorite meal, video game or fire alarms.

“There’s never a time limit. We don’t get ‘over it.’ We hope we learn to get through it and cope,” Gur-
witch said.

Survivors of the Columbine attack, which killed 12 Colorado students and a teacher on April 20, 1999, 
started The Rebels Project, which is part of a loose nationwide network of survivors of mass attacks.

The groups reach out after each shooting. They held a packed meeting for survivors and parents in 
Parkland this month, describing how they have learned to cope over the years through therapy, exercise 
and hobbies and assuring the Florida community that their pain is normal.

“We are one family,” said meeting organizer Mike Dempsey, a survivor of 9/11 and the 2017 Las Vegas 
mass shooting. “What helped me after 9/11 was that Oklahoma City bombing survivors drove all the way 
up to New York to help us. They weren’t mental health professionals, but they were able to offer comfort 
and outreach and just to let us know: ‘We’ve been through this.’”

Rozenblat refuses to talk about the Parkland shooting. If she feels anxious during the school day, she 
holes up in a TV production classroom because there are no windows for a gunman to shoot through.

Her mother worries. Alex had been an honors student but now struggles with schoolwork. She’s also 
started hanging around a new group of friends, said her mother, Lissette Rozenblat.

She schedules therapy appointments, but Alex often makes excuses to postpone or cancel. The family 
bought a therapy dog and is trying to get Alex into art therapy.

“The common theme among parents ... almost all of our kids don’t want to talk about the incident,” 
Lissette Rozenblat said.

Some students who were not physically wounded minimize their trauma and don’t seek help because 
they try to convince themselves they were lucky, said Columbine survivor Heather Martin, who co-founded 
The Rebel Project.

“You can’t measure trauma in that way,” Martin said. Still, she said people need to seek help when they 
feel ready, not when others think they should.

Victims often receive compensation for longer-term care, but many in recovering communities, especially 
those may have seen horror but avoided injury, say there’s still not enough help to go around.

Stoneman Douglas math teacher Kimberly Krawczyk said no typical school counselor — no matter how 
well-intentioned or trained — can fully help students or staff who survived a mass shooting.

“These kids have seen as much as soldiers who have been in battle. They survived gunfire. They walked 
over bodies. They had classmates who were right next to them who got shot,” Krawczyk said.

Teachers also are dealing with their own trauma and insecurities, she said.
“We don’t all have our marbles back in our bags yet, but we are in charge of those children. That grav-
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ity is a lot of responsibility, and for some teachers, it is too emotionally overwhelming,” Krawczyk said.

Managing long-term mental health effects poses unique challenges in each town touched by tragedy, 
but experts agree that isolation is a red flag and keeping victims connected to family, friends and com-
munity is critical.

Dr. April Foreman, a psychologist on the board of the American Association of Suicidology, called treat-
ing mass shootings “a profound lifetime health care issue” but stressed that a majority of those who have 
suicidal thoughts recover.

Marjory Stoneman sophomore Julia Brighton said she’s attempted suicide four times in the year since 
she watched the gunman shoot through the window of her English class, killing three friends. Despite 
an outpouring of community support and a bevy of mental health services, Brighton said she still felt 
ashamed to seek help.

After months of therapy, she said she realized “there’s nothing to be afraid of because it made me a 
better person in the long run.”

___
Slevin reported from Denver. Associated Press Medical Writer Lindsey Tanner in Chicago contributed to 

this report.

Was Trump trying to silence Cohen? Mueller wasn’t sure
By JIM MUSTIAN and MICHAEL R. SISAK Associated Press

NEW YORK (AP) — Days after the FBI raided Michael Cohen’s home and office last year, President Don-
ald Trump called his longtime fixer and urged him to “stay strong” and “hang in there” in the face of the 
intensifying investigation.

That call was among several assurances Cohen says he received that the White House would have his 
back so long as he “stayed on message,” special counsel Robert Mueller said in his long-awaited report 
on his Trump investigation. The redacted 448-page document was made public Thursday.

Mueller’s team said it found evidence to suggest that the president intended to discourage Cohen from 
cooperating with federal authorities, noting among other things that after Cohen flipped on his boss, Trump 
branded him a “rat” and publicly suggested Cohen’s family members had committed crimes.

Ultimately, however, the special counsel reached no conclusion on whether Trump obstructed justice. 
And last month, upon receiving Mueller’s report, Attorney General William Barr decided Trump shouldn’t 
be prosecuted.

Cohen, 52, is set to report to prison next month to begin serving a three-year sentence after pleading 
guilty to crimes that included lying to Congress about a Trump Tower project in Moscow and arranging 
the payment of hush money to a porn star and a Playboy centerfold who claimed to have had affairs with 
Trump.

The Mueller report, though blacked out in places, offers a window into the quiet support Cohen received 
from Trump before he turned on his longtime boss and began cooperating with federal prosecutors.

In the months after the April 2018 raid against Cohen by the FBI, Trump associates sought to assure him 
that the president intended to take care of him. Someone associated with the Trump Organization — whose 
name is blacked out of the report — told Cohen that “everyone knows the boss has your back.” Another 
time, a friend of the president’s reached out to tell Cohen that he was with “the Boss” at Mar-a-Lago and 
that Trump said “he loves you” and not to worry, according to the report.

Cohen “believed he needed the power of the President to take care of him,” he told Mueller’s team, 
noting his legal fees were still being paid at the time by the Trump Organization.

But Cohen grew increasingly worried and asked one Trump attorney “what was in it for him,” the report 
says. Cohen “discussed pardons with the President’s personal counsel and believed that if he stayed on 
message he would be taken care of.”

By June 2018, however, he had broken with the president, saying in an interview that he needed to put 
family and country ahead of his loyalty to Trump. Trump reacted by lashing out at him and later, in what 
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Cohen regarded as a threat, accused Cohen family members of illegal acts.

“The evidence concerning this sequence of events,” the Mueller report says, “could support an inference 
that the President used inducements in the form of positive messages in an effort to get Cohen not to 
cooperate, and then turned to attacks and intimidation to deter the provision of information or undermine 
Cohen’s credibility once Cohen began cooperating.”

Some of Cohen’s statements to Mueller’s team were blacked out of the report. But Cohen attorney 
and spokesman Lanny Davis tweeted Thursday that Cohen has “7 days, 70 hours, + 100 pages of what 
#TeamMueller knows and can fill in the bulk of the redactions.”

Cohen himself tweeted: “Soon I will be ready to address the American people again ... tell it all ... and 
tell it myself!” It wasn’t clear how or when he would do that.

Key takeaways from Robert Mueller’s Russia report
By CHAD DAY Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — President Donald Trump may not have obstructed justice, but it wasn’t for lack 
of trying.

Robert Mueller’s 448-page report takes the American public inside the room with Trump as he expressed 
fear that the special counsel would end his presidency and made several attempts to get the people around 
him to curtail the probe into his campaign and Russian interference in the 2016 presidential election.

Ultimately, Mueller found Trump’s inner circle saved him from himself. They refused to carry out orders 
that could have crossed the line into obstructing justice.

Some key takeaways from the report:
TRUMP TRIED TO INFLUENCE THE RUSSIA PROBE
Mueller details several occasions.
Some occurred in public. Others behind closed doors. Trump ordered his White House counsel to try to 

have Mueller removed. He directed his former campaign manager to deliver a message to then-Attorney 
General Jeff Sessions to make a public statement calling the investigation “very unfair.” He also wanted 
Sessions to announce that Trump had done “nothing wrong” and to say that the investigation’s scope had 
been limited.

But people around Trump either refused or quietly allowed the matters to drop.
“The president’s efforts to influence the investigation were mostly unsuccessful, but that is largely be-

cause the persons who surrounded the president declined to carry out orders or accede to his requests,” 
the special counsel wrote.

NO COLLUSION, BUT NO EXONERATION
Barr was generally right weeks ago when he released Mueller’s key findings.
The special counsel did not find a criminal conspiracy between the Trump campaign and the Russian 

government to interfere in the 2016 presidential election. He did not recommend charging any Trump as-
sociates as agents of the Russian government or with campaign finance violations.

But on the question of obstruction, Mueller said there was evidence on both sides of the question. He 
said some of Trump’s actions related to potential “garden variety” obstruction.

“If we had confidence after a thorough investigation of the facts that the president clearly did not com-
mit obstruction of justice, we would so state. Based on the facts and the applicable legal standards, we 
are unable to reach that judgment,” Mueller wrote.

IS THE REPORT GOOD OR BAD FOR TRUMP?
It depends on who you ask.
Trump’s legal team claimed “complete vindication” by the report, and Barr emphasized at his news con-

ference that there was no evidence of collusion.
Trump even tweeted out a Game of Thrones themed meme, saying “For the haters and the radical left 

Democrats — Game Over.”
But the report describes in detail a president driven to interfere in the probe out of fear that it would 
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“call into question the legitimacy of his election” and his own uncertainty that his family or associates may 
have violated the law.

Mueller wrote that on multiple occasions Trump did things that were “capable of exerting undue influence 
over law enforcement investigations.” Some of that was in private, one-on-one encounters that witnesses 
relayed to the special counsel.

But the president’s public acts also raised questions that they could have led witnesses to feel intimidated 
or alter their testimony, moves that Mueller said were equally threatening to the “justice system’s integrity.”

IGNORANCE OF THE LAW WAS A DEFENSE
That was the case for Donald Trump Jr. and a Trump Tower meeting with a Russian lawyer.
In June 2016, Trump Jr. agreed to take the meeting despite it being described in emails as part of a 

Russian government effort to help his father. Trump Jr. was looking for dirt that could be used against 
Democratic presidential candidate Hillary Clinton.

The meeting raised questions about whether Trump Jr. and others violated the federal ban on foreign 
contributions to American political campaigns.

But Mueller, who interviewed many of the participants in the meeting, said he didn’t find that he could 
bring a case.

The special counsel wrote that it was unlikely the government could prove that Trump, Jr. and others in 
the meeting “had general knowledge that their conduct was unlawful.”

MUELLER FELT HE COULDN’T CHARGE TRUMP— EVEN IN SECRET
The report reveals some of Mueller’s reasoning behind why he didn’t reach a conclusion on the question 

of obstruction.
He says that he would have exonerated Trump if he could have, but he wasn’t able to given the evidence 

he uncovered. Still, Mueller said that the Justice Department’s opinion that a sitting president couldn’t be 
indicted meant he also couldn’t recommend Trump be criminally charged, even if he made the recom-
mendation in secret.

That’s because Trump could not defend himself during a public trial while in office.
In announcing the release of the redacted report, Attorney General William Barr said he asked Muel-

ler during a meeting in early March about the matter. Mueller replied that he didn’t recommend charges 
against Trump solely because a sitting president can’t be indicted, Barr said.

___
Associated Press writers Zeke Miller, Mary Clare Jalonick and Michael Balsamo contributed to this report.
___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

Full text of Mueller’s questions and Trump’s answers
WASHINGTON (AP) — Robert Mueller’s 448-page investigative report into allegations of Russian inter-

ference in the 2016 presidential election includes 23 unredacted pages of Mueller’s written questions and 
Donald Trump’s written responses, the only direct exchange between the special counsel’s office and the 
president.

Mueller’s team writes that it tried to interview the president for more than a year before Trump submitted 
written testimony in response to questions on certain Russia-related topics in November 2018.

An introductory note included in the report said the special counsel’s office found the responses indicative 
of “the inadequacy of the written format,” especially given the office’s inability to ask follow-up questions.

Citing dozens of answers that Mueller’s team considered incomplete, imprecise or unable to be provided 
because of the president’s lack of recollections — for instance, the president gave no response at all to 
the final set of questions — the special counsel’s office again sought an in-person interview with Trump 
that he again declined.

The full exchange between Mueller’s team and Trump:
___
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I. JUNE 9, 2016 MEETING AT TRUMP TOWER
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
a. When did you first learn that Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Jared Kushner was considering 

participating in a meeting in June 2016 concerning potentially negative information about Hillary Clinton? 
Describe who you learned the information from and the substance of the discussion.

b. Attached to this document as Exhibit A is a series of emails from June 2016 between, among others, 
Donald Trump Jr. and Rob Goldstone. In addition to the emails reflected in Exhibit A, Donald Trump Jr. had 
other communications with Rob Goldstone and Emin Agalarov between June 3, 2016, and June 9, 2016.

i. Did Mr. Trump Jr. or anyone else tell you about or show you any of these communications? If yes, 
describe who discussed the communications with you, when, and the substance of the discussion(s).

ii. When did you first see or learn about all or any part of the emails reflected in Exhibit A?
iii. When did you first learn that the proposed meeting involved or was described as being part of Russia 

and its government’s support for your candidacy?
iv. Did you suggest to or direct anyone not to discuss or release publicly all or any portion of the 

emails reflected in Exhibit A? If yes, describe who you communicated with, when, the substance of the 
communication(s), and why you took that action.

c. On June 9, 2016, Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, and Jared Kushner attended a meeting at Trump 
Tower with several individuals, including a Russian lawyer, Natalia Veselnitskaya (the “June 9 meeting”).

i. Other than as set forth in your answers to I.a and I.b, what, if anything, were you told about the pos-
sibility of this meeting taking place, or the scheduling of such a meeting? Describe who you discussed this 
with, when, and what you were informed about the meeting.

ii. When did you learn that some of the individuals attending the June 9 meeting were Russian or had 
any affiliation with any part of the Russian government? Describe who you learned this information from 
and the substance of the discussion(s).

iii. What were you told about what was discussed at the June 9 meeting? Describe each conversation in 
which you were told about what was discussed at the meeting, who the conversation was with, when it 
occurred, and the substance of the statements they made about the meeting.

iv. Were you told that the June 9 meeting was about, in whole or in part, adoption and/or the Magnitsky 
Act? If yes, describe who you had that discussion with, when, and the substance of the discussion.

PRESIDENT DONALD TRUMP:
Response to Question l, Parts (a) through (c): I have no recollection of learning at the time that Donald 

Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Jared Kushner was considering participating in a meeting in June 2016 concern-
ing potentially negative information about Hillary Clinton. Nor do I recall learning during the campaign that 
the June 9, 2016 meeting had taken place, that the referenced emails existed, or that Donald J. Trump Jr., 
had other communications with Emin Agalarov or Robert Goldstone between June 3, 2016 and June 9, 2016.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
d. For the period June 6, 2016 through June 9, 2016, for what portion of each day were you in Trump 

Tower?
i. Did you speak or meet with Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Jared Kushner on June 9, 2016? If 

yes, did any portion of any of those conversations or meetings include any reference to any aspect of the 
June 9 meeting? If yes, describe who you spoke with and the substance of the conversation.

TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (d): I have no independent recollection of what portion of these four days 

in June of 2016 I spent in Trump Tower. This was one of many busy months during a fast-paced campaign, 
as the primary season was ending and we were preparing for the general election campaign.

I am now aware that my Campaign’s calendar indicates that I was in New York City from June 6-9, 2016. 
Calendars kept in my Trump Tower office reflect that I had various calls and meetings scheduled for each 
of these days. While those calls and meetings may or may not actually have taken place, they do indicate 
that I was in Trump Tower during a portion of each of these working days, and I have no reason to doubt 
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that I was. When I was in New York City, I stayed at my Trump Tower apartment.

My Trump Organization desk calendar also reflects that I was outside Trump Tower during portions of 
these days. The June 7, 2016 calendar indicates I was scheduled to leave Trump Tower in the early evening 
for Westchester where I gave remarks after winning the California, New Jersey, New Mexico, Montana, 
and South Dakota Republican primaries held that day. The June 8, 2016 calendar indicates a scheduled 
departure in late afternoon to attend a ceremony at my son’s school. The June 9, 2016 calendar indicates 
I was scheduled to attend midday meetings and a fundraising luncheon at the Four Seasons Hotel. At this 
point, I do not remember on what dales these events occurred, but I do not currently have a reason to 
doubt that they took place as scheduled on my calendar.

Widely available media reports, including television footage, also shed light on my activities during these 
days. For example, I am aware that my June 7, 2016 victory remarks at the Trump National Golf Club in 
Briarcliff Manor, New York, were recorded and published by the media. I remember winning those primaries 
and generally recall delivering remarks that evening.

At this point in time, I do not remember whether I spoke or met with Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, 
or Jared Kushner on June 9, 2016. My desk calendar indicates I was scheduled to meet with Paul Manafort 
on the morning of June 9, but I do not recall if that meeting took place. It was more than two years ago, 
at a time when I had many calls and interactions daily.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
e. Did you communicate directly or indirectly with any member or representative of the Agalarov family 

after June 3, 2016? If yes, describe who you spoke with, when, and the substance of the communication.
TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (e): I have no independent recollection of any communications I had with 

the Agalarov family or anyone I understood to be a representative of the Agalarov family after June 3, 
2016 and before the end of the campaign. While preparing to respond to these questions, I have become 
aware of written communications with the Agalarovs during the campaign that were sent, received, and 
largely authored by my staff and which I understand have already been produced to you.

In general, the documents include congratulatory letters on my campaign victories, emails about a 
painting Emin and Aras Agalarov arranged to have delivered to Trump Tower as a birthday present, and 
emails regarding delivery of a book written by Aras Agalarov. The documents reflect that the deliveries 
were screened by the Secret Service.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
f. Did you learn of any communications between Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Jared Kushner 

and any member or representative of the Agalarov family, Natalia Veselnitskaya, Rob Goldstone, or any 
Russian official or contact that took place after June 9, 2016 and concerned the June 9 meeting or efforts 
by Russia to assist the campaign? If yes, describe who you learned this information from, when, and the 
substance of what you learned.

TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (f): I do not recall being aware during the campaign of communications 

between Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Jared Kushner and any member or representative of the 
Agalarov family, Robert Goldstone, Natalia Veselnitskaya (whose name I was not familiar with), or anyone 
I understood to be a Russian official.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
g. On June 7, 2016, you gave a speech in which you said, in part, “I am going to give a major speech 

on probably Monday of next week and we’re going to be discussing all of the things that have taken place 
with the Clintons.”

i. Why did you make that statement?
ii. What information did you plan to share with respect to the Clintons?
iii. What did you believe the source(s) of that information would be?
iv. Did you expect any of the information to have come from the June 9 meeting?
v. Did anyone help draft the speech that you were referring to? If so, who?
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vi. Why did you ultimately not give the speech you referenced on June 7, 2016?
TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (g): In remarks I delivered the night I won the California, New Jersey, New 

Mexico, Montana, and South Dakota Republican primaries, I said, “I am going to give a major speech on 
probably Monday of next week and we’re going to be discussing all of the things that have taken place 
with the Clintons.” In general, l expected to give a speech referencing the publicly available, negative 
information about the Clintons, including, for example, Mrs. Clinton’s failed policies, the Clintons’ use of 
the State Department to further their interests and the interests of the Clinton Foundation, Mrs. Clinton’s 
improper use of a private server for State Department business, the destruction of 33,000 emails on that 
server, and Mrs. Clinton’s temperamental unsuitability for the office of President.

In the course of preparing to respond to your questions, I have become aware that the Campaign docu-
ments already produced to you reflect the drafting, evolution, and sources of information for the speech 
I expected to give “probably” on the Monday following my June 7, 2016 comments. These documents 
generally show that the text of the speech was initially drafted by Campaign staff with input from various 
outside advisors and was based on publicly available material, including, in particular, information from 
the book Clinton Cash by Peter Schweizer.

The Pulse Nightclub terrorist attack took place in the early morning hours of Sunday, June 12, 2016. In 
light of that tragedy, I gave a speech directed more specifically to national security and terrorism than to 
the Clintons. That speech was delivered at the Saint Anselm College Institute of Politics in Manchester, 
New Hampshire, and, as reported, opened with the following:

“This was going to be a speech on Hillary Clinton and how bad a President, especially in these times of 
Radical Islamic Terrorism, she would be. Even her former Secret Service Agent, who has seen her under 
pressure and in times of stress, has stated that she lacks the temperament and integrity to be president. 
There will be plenty of opportunity to discuss these important issues at a later time, and I will deliver that 
speech soon. But today there is only one thing to discuss: the growing threat of terrorism inside of our 
borders.”

I continued to speak about Mrs. Clinton’s failings throughout the campaign, using the information pre-
pared for inclusion in the speech to which I referred on June 7, 2016.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
h. Did any person or entity inform you during the campaign that Vladimir Putin or the Russian govern-

ment supported your candidacy or opposed the candidacy of Hillary Clinton? If yes, describe the source(s) 
of the information, when you were informed, and the content of such discussion(s).

TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (h): I have no recollection of being told during the campaign that Vladimir 

Putin or the Russian government “supported” my candidacy or “opposed” the candidacy of Hillary Clinton. 
However, I was aware of some reports indicating that President Putin had made complimentary state-
ments about me.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
i. Did any person or entity inform you during the campaign that any foreign government or foreign leader, 

other than Russia or Vladimir Putin, had provided, wished to provide, or offered to provide tangible support 
to your campaign, including by way of offering to provide negative information on Hillary Clinton? If yes, 
describe the source(s) of the information, when you were informed, and the content of such discussion(s).

TRUMP:
Response to Question I, Part (i): I have no recollection of being told during the campaign that any foreign 

government or foreign leader had provided, wished to provide, or offered to provide tangible support to 
my campaign.

___
II. RUSSIAN HACKING/RUSSIAN EFFORTS USING SOCIAL MEDIA/WIKILEAKS
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
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a. On June 14, 2016, it was publicly reported that computer hackers had penetrated the computer network 

of the Democratic National Committee (DNC) and that Russian intelligence was behind the unauthorized 
access, or hack. Prior to June 14, 2016, were you provided any information about any potential or actual 
hacking of the computer systems or email accounts of the DNC, the Democratic Congressional Campaign 
Committee (DCCC), the Clinton Campaign, Hillary Clinton, or individuals associated with the Clinton cam-
paign? If yes, describe who provided this information, when, and the substance of the information.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (a): I do not remember the date on which it was publicly reported that 

the DNC had been hacked, but my best recollection is that I learned of the hacking at or shortly after the 
time it became the subject of media reporting. I do not recall being provided any information during the 
campaign about the hacking of any of the named entities or individuals before it became the subject of 
media reporting.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
b. On July 22, 2016, WikiLeaks released nearly 20,000 emails sent or received by Democratic party officials.
i. Prior to the July 22, 2016 release, were you aware from any source that WikiLeaks, Guccifer 2.0, 

DCLeaks, or Russians had or potentially had possession of or planned to release emails or information 
that could help your campaign or hurt the Clinton campaign? If yes, describe who you discussed this issue 
with, when, and the substance of the discussion(s).

ii. After the release of emails by WikiLeaks on July 22, 2016, were you told that WikiLeaks possessed or 
might possess additional information that could be released during the campaign? If yes, describe who 
provided this information, when, and what you were told.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (b): I recall that in the months leading up to the election there was con-

siderable media reporting about the possible hacking and release of campaign-related information and 
there was a lot of talk about this matter. At the time, I was generally aware of these media reports and 
may have discussed these issues with my campaign staff or others, but at this point in time — more than 
two years later — I have no recollection of any particular conversation, when it occurred, or who the 
participants were.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
c. Are you aware of any communications during the campaign, directly or indirectly, between Roger 

Stone, Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, or Rick Gates and (a) WikiLeaks, (b) Julian Assange, (c) other 
representatives of WikiLeaks, (d) Guccifer 2.0, (e) representatives of Guccifer 2.0, or (f) representatives of 
DCLeaks? If yes, describe who provided you with this information, when you learned of the communica-
tions, and what you know about those communications.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (c): I do not recall being aware during the campaign of any communica-

tions between the individuals named in Question II (c) and anyone I understood to be a representative of 
WikiLeaks or any of the other individuals or entities referred to in the question.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
d. On July 27, 2016, you stated at a press conference: “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to 

find the 30,000 emails that are missing. I think you will probably be rewarded mightily by our press.”
i. Why did you make that request of Russia, as opposed to any other country, entity, or individual?
ii. In advance of making that statement, what discussions, if any, did you have with anyone else about 

the substance of the statement?
iii. Were you told at any time before or after you made that statement that Russia was attempting to 

infiltrate or hack computer systems or email accounts of Hillary Clinton or her campaign? If yes, describe 
who provided this information, when, and what you were told.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (d): I made the statement quoted in Question II (d) in jest and sarcastically, 

as was apparent to any objective observer. The context of the statement is evident in the full reading or 
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viewing of the July 27, 2016 press conference, and I refer you to the publicly available transcript and video 
of that press conference. I do not recall having any discussion about the substance of the statement in 
advance of the press conference. I do not recall being told during the campaign of any efforts by Russia 
to infiltrate or hack the computer systems or email accounts of Hillary Clinton or her campaign prior to 
them becoming the subject of media reporting and I have no recollection of any particular conversation 
in that regard.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
e. On October 7, 2016, emails hacked from the account of John Podesta were released by WikiLeaks.
i. Where were you on October 7, 2016?
ii. Were you told at any time in advance of, or on the day of, the October 7 release that WikiLeaks pos-

sessed or might possess emails related to John Podesta? If yes, describe who told you this, when, and 
what you were told.

iii. Are you aware of anyone associated with you or your campaign, including Roger Stone, reaching out 
to WikiLeaks, either directly or through an intermediary, on or about October 7, 2016? If yes, identify the 
person and describe the substance of the conversations or contacts.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (e): I was in Trump Tower in New York City on October 7, 2016. I have 

no recollection of being told that WikiLeaks possessed or might possess emails related to John Podesta 
before the release of Mr. Podesta’s emails was reported by the media. Likewise, I have no recollection 
of being told that Roger Stone, anyone acting as an intermediary for Roger Stone, or anyone associated 
with my campaign had communicated with WikiLeaks on October 7, 2016.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
f. Were you told of anyone associated with you or your campaign, including Roger Stone, having any 

discussions, directly or indirectly, with WikiLeaks, Guccifer 2.0, or DCLeaks regarding the content or tim-
ing of release of hacked emails? If yes, describe who had such contacts, how you became aware of the 
contacts, when you became aware of the contacts, and the substance of the contacts.

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (f): I do not recall being told during the campaign that Roger Stone or 

anyone associated with my campaign had discussions with any of the entities named in the question re-
garding the content or timing of release of hacked emails.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
g. From June 1, 2016 through the end of the campaign, how frequently did you communicate with Roger 

Stone? Describe the nature of your communication(s) with Mr. Stone.
i. During that time period, what efforts did Mr. Stone tell you he was making to assist your campaign, 

and what requests, if any, did you make of Mr. Stone?
ii. Did Mr. Stone ever discuss WikiLeaks with you or, as far as you were aware, with anyone else associ-

ated with the campaign? If yes, describe what you were told, from whom, and when.
iii. Did Mr. Stone at any time inform you about contacts he had with WikiLeaks or any intermediary of 

WikiLeaks, or about forthcoming releases of information? If yes, describe what Stone told you and when.
TRUMP:
Response to Question ll, Part (g): I spoke by telephone with Roger Stone from time to time during the 

campaign. I have no recollection of the specifics of any conversations I had with Mr. Stone between June 
1.2016 and November 8, 2016. I do not recall discussing WikiLeaks with him, nor do I recall being aware 
of Mr. Stone having discussed WikiLeaks with individuals associated with my campaign, although I was 
aware that WikiLeaks was the subject of media reporting and campaign-related discussion at the time.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
h. Did you have any discussions prior to January 20, 2017, regarding a potential pardon or other action 

to benefit Julian Assange? If yes, describe who you had the discussion(s) with, when, and the content of 
the discussion(s).

TRUMP:
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Response to Question II, Part (h): I do not recall having had any discussion during the campaign regard-

ing a pardon or action to benefit Julian Assange.
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
i. Were you aware of any efforts by foreign individuals or companies, including those in Russia, to assist 

your campaign through the use of social media postings or the organization of rallies? If yes, identify who 
you discussed such assistance with, when, and the content of the discussion(s).

TRUMP:
Response to Question II, Part (i): I do not recall being aware during the campaign of specific efforts by 

foreign individuals or companies to assist my campaign through the use of social media postings or the 
organization of rallies.

___
III. THE TRUMP ORGANIZATION MOSCOW PROJECT
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
a. In October 2015, a “Letter of Intent,” a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B, was signed for a pro-

posed Trump Organization project in Moscow (the “Trump Moscow project”).
i. When were you first informed of discussions about the Trump Moscow project? By whom? What were 

you told about the project?
ii. Did you sign the letter of intent?
b. In a statement provided to Congress, attached as Exhibit C, Michael Cohen stated: “To the best of 

my knowledge, Mr. Trump was never in contact with anyone about this proposal other than me on three 
occasions, including signing a non-binding letter of intent in 2015.” Describe all discussions you had with 
Mr. Cohen, or anyone else associated with the Trump Organization, about the Trump Moscow project, 
including who you spoke with, when, and the substance of the discussion(s).

c. Did you learn of any communications between Michael Cohen or Felix Sater and any Russian govern-
ment officials, including officials in the office of Dmitry Peskov, regarding the Trump Moscow project? If 
so, identify who provided this information to you, when, and the substance of what you learned.

d. Did you have any discussions between June 2015 and June 2016 regarding a potential trip to Russia 
by you and/or Michael Cohen for reasons related to the Trump Moscow project? If yes, describe who you 
spoke with, when, and the substance of the discussion(s).

e. Did you at any time direct or suggest that discussions about the Trump Moscow project should cease, 
or were you informed at any time that the project had been abandoned? If yes, describe who you spoke 
with, when, the substance of the discussion(s), and why that decision was made.

f. Did you have any discussions regarding what information would be provided publicly or in response 
to investigative inquiries about potential or actual investments or business deals the Trump Organization 
had in Russia, including the Trump Moscow project? If yes, describe who you spoke with, when, and the 
substance of the discussion(s).

g. Aside from the Trump Moscow project, did you or the Trump Organization have any other prospective 
or actual business interests, investments, or arrangements with Russia or any Russian interest or Russian 
individual during the campaign? If yes, describe the business interests, investments, or arrangements.

TRUMP:
Response to Question III, Parts (a) through (g): Sometime in 2015, Michael Cohen suggested to me the 

possibility of a Trump Organization project in Moscow. As I recall, Mr. Cohen described this as a proposed 
project of a general type we have done in the past in a variety of locations. I signed the non-binding Let-
ter of Intent attached to your questions as Exhibit B which required no equity or expenditure on our end 
and was consistent with our ongoing efforts to expand into significant markets around the world.

I had few conversations with Mr. Cohen on this subject. As I recall, they were brief, and they were not 
memorable. I was not enthused about the proposal, and I do not recall any discussion of travel to Russia in 
connection with it. I do not remember discussing it with anyone else at the Trump Organization, although it 
is possible. I do not recall being aware at the time of any communications between Mr. Cohen or Felix Sater 
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and any Russian government official regarding the Letter of Intent. In the course of preparing to respond 
to your questions, I have become aware that Mr. Cohen sent an email regarding the Letter of Intent to 
“Mr. Peskov” at a general, public email account, which should show there was no meaningful relationship 
with people in power in Russia. I understand those documents already have been provided to you.

I vaguely remember press inquiries and media reporting during the campaign about whether the Trump 
Organization had business dealings in Russia. I may have spoken with campaign staff or Trump Organiza-
tion employees regarding responses to requests for information, but I have no current recollection of any 
particular conversation, with whom I may have spoken, when, or the substance of any conversation. As 
I recall, neither I nor the Trump Organization had any projects or proposed projects in Russia during the 
campaign other than the Letter of Intent.

___
IV. CONTACTS WITH RUSSIA AND RUSSIA-RELATED ISSUES DURING THE CAMPAIGN
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
a. Prior to mid-August 2016, did you become aware that Paul Manafort had ties to the Ukrainian gov-

ernment? If yes, describe who you learned this information from, when, and the substance of what you 
were told. Did Mr. Manafort’s connections to the Ukrainian or Russian governments play any role in your 
decision to have him join your campaign? If yes, describe that role.

b. Were you aware that Paul Manafort offered briefings on the progress of your campaign to Oleg De-
ripaska? If yes, describe who you learned this information from, when, the substance of what you were 
told, what you understood the purpose was of sharing such information with Mr. Deripaska, and how you 
responded to learning this information.

c. Were you aware of whether Paul Manafort or anyone else associated with your campaign sent or 
directed others to send internal Trump campaign information to any person located in Ukraine or Rus-
sia or associated with the Ukrainian or Russian governments? If yes, identify who provided you with this 
information, when, the substance of the discussion(s), what you understood the purpose was of sharing 
the internal campaign information, and how you responded to learning this information.

d. Did Paul Manafort communicate to you, directly or indirectly, any posit ions Ukraine or Russia would 
want the U.S. to support? If yes, describe when he communicated those positions to you and the sub-
stance of those communications.

TRUMP:
Response to Question IV, Parts (a) through (d): Mr. Manafort was hired primarily because of his delegate 

work for prior presidential candidates, including Gerald Ford, Ronald Reagan, George H.W. Bush, and 
Bob Dole. I knew that Mr. Manafort had done international consulting work and, at some time before Mr. 
Manafort left the campaign, I learned that he was somehow involved with individuals concerning Ukraine, 
but I do not remember the specifics of what I knew at the time.

l had no knowledge of Mr. Manafort offering briefings on the progress of my campaign to an individual 
named Oleg Deripaska, nor do I remember being aware of Mr. Manafort or anyone else associated with 
my campaign sending or directing others to send internal Trump Campaign information to anyone I knew 
to be in Ukraine or Russia at the time or to anyone I understood to be a Ukrainian or Russian govern-
ment employee or official. I do not remember Mr. Manafort communicating to me any particular positions 
Ukraine or Russia would want the United States to support.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
e. During the campaign, were you told about efforts by Russian officials to meet with you or senior 

members of your campaign? If yes, describe who you had conversations with on this topic, when, and 
what you were told.

TRUMP:
Response to Question IV, Part (e): I do not recall being told during the campaign of efforts by Russian 

officials to meet with me or with senior members of my campaign. In the process of preparing to respond 
to these questions, I became aware that on March 17, 2016, my assistant at the Trump Organization, Rhona 
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Graff, received an email from a Sergei Prikhodko, who identified himself as Deputy Prime Minister of the 
Russian Federation, Foundation Roscongress, inviting me to participate in the St. Petersburg International 
Economic Forum to be held in June 2016. The documents show that Ms. Graff prepared for my signature a 
brief response declining the invitation. I understand these documents already have been produced to you.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
f. What role, if any, did you have in changing the Republican Party platform regarding arming Ukraine 

during the Republican National Convention? Prior to the convention, what information did you have about 
this platform provision? After the platform provision was changed, who told you about the change, when 
did they tell you, what were you told about why it was changed, and who was involved?

TRUMP:
Response to Question IV, Part (f): I have no recollection of the details of what, when, or from what 

source I first learned about the change to the platform amendment regarding arming Ukraine, but I gen-
erally recall learning of the issue as part of media reporting. I do not recall being involved in changing the 
language to the amendment.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
g. On July 27, 2016, in response to a question about whether you would recognize Crimea as Russian 

territory and lift sanctions on Russia, you said: “We’ll be looking at that. Yeah, we’ll be looking.” Did you 
intend to communicate by that statement or at any other time during the campaign a willingness to lift 
sanctions and/or recognize Russia’s annexation of Crimea if you were elected?

i. What consideration did you give to lifting sanctions and/or recognizing Russia’s annexation of Crimea if 
you were elected? Describe who you spoke with about this topic, when, the substance of the discussion(s).

TRUMP:
Response to Question IV, Part (g): My statement did not communicate any position.
___
V. CONTACTS WITH RUSSIA AND RUSSIA-RELATED ISSUES DURING THE TRANSITION
SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
a. Were you asked to attend the World Chess Championship gala on November 10, 2016? If yes, who asked 

you to attend, when were you asked, and what were you told about why your presence was requested?
i. Did you attend any part of the event? If yes, describe any interactions you had with any Russians or 

representatives of the Russian government at the event.
TRUMP:
Response to Question V, Part (a): I do not remember having been asked to attend the World Chess 

Championship gala, and I did not attend the event. During the course of preparing to respond to these 
questions, I have become aware of documents indicating that in March of 2016, the president of the World 
Chess Federation invited the Trump Organization to host, at Trump Tower, the 2016 World Chess Champion-
ship Match to be held in New York in November 2016. I have also become aware that in November 2016 
, there were press inquiries to my staff regarding whether I had plans to attend the tournament , which 
was not being held at Trump Tower. I understand these documents have already been provided to you.

SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE:
b. Following the Obama Administration’s imposition of sanctions on Russia in December 2016 (“Russia 

sanctions”), did you discuss with Lieutenant General (LTG) Michael Flynn, K.T. McFarland, Steve Bannon, 
Reince Priebus, Jared Kushner, Erik Prince, or anyone else associated with the transition what should be 
communicated to the Russian government regarding the sanctions? If yes, describe who you spoke with 
about this issue, when, and the substance of the discussion(s).

c. On December 29 and December 31, 2016, LTG Flynn had conversations with Russian Ambassador 
Sergey Kislyak about the Russia sanctions and Russia’s response to the Russia sanctions.

i. Did you direct or suggest that LTG Flynn have discussions with anyone from the Russian government 
about the Russia sanctions?

ii. Were you told in advance of LTG Flynn’s December 29, 2016 conversation that he was going to be 
speaking with Ambassador Kislyak? If yes, describe who told you this information, when, and what you 
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were told. If no, when and from whom did you learn of LTG Flynn’s December 29, 2016 conversation with 
Ambassador Kislyak?

iii. When did you learn of LTG Flynn and Ambassador Kislyak’s call on December 31, 2016? Who told you 
and what were you told?

iv. When did you learn that sanctions were discussed in the December 29 and December 31, 2016 calls 
between LTG Flynn and Ambassador Kislyak? Who told you and what were you told?

d. At any time between December 31, 2016, and January 20, 2017, did anyone tell you or suggest to 
you that Russia’s decision not to impose reciprocal sanctions was attributable in any way to LTG Flynn’s 
communications with Ambassador Kislyak? If yes, identify who provided you with this information, when, 
and the substance of what you were told.

e. On January 12, 2017, the Washington Post published a column that stated that LTG Flynn phoned 
Ambassador Kislyak several times on December 29, 2016. After learning of the column, did you direct or 
suggest to anyone that LTG Flynn should deny that he discussed sanctions with Ambassador Kislyak? If yes, 
who did you make this suggestion or direction to, when, what did you say, and why did you take this step?

i. After learning of the column, did you have any conversations with LTG Flynn about his conversations 
with Ambassador Kislyak in December 2016? If yes, describe when those discussions occurred and the 
content of the discussions.

f. Were you told about a meeting between Jared Kushner and Sergei Gorkov that took place in December 
2016?

i. If yes, describe who you spoke with, when, the substance of the discussion(s), and what you under-
stood was the purpose of the meeting.

g. Were you told about a meeting or meetings between Erik Prince and Kirill Dmitriev or any other rep-
resentative from the Russian government that took place in January 2017?

i. If yes, describe who you spoke with, when, the substance of the discussion(s), and what you under-
stood was the purpose of the meeting(s).

h. Prior to January 20, 2017, did you talk to Steve Bannon, Jared Kushner, or any other individual as-
sociated with the transition regarding establishing an unofficial line of communication with Russia? If yes, 
describe who you spoke with, when, the substance of the discussion(s), and what you understood was the 
purpose of such an unofficial line of communication.

TRUMP:
(No answer provided.)

The 10 instances of possible obstruction in Mueller report
By MARK SHERMAN Associated Press

WASHINGTON (AP) — Special counsel Robert Mueller’s investigation of Russian interference in the 2016 
election identified 10 instances of possible obstruction of justice by President Donald Trump. Mueller said 
in his report that he could not conclusively determine that Trump had committed a crime or that he hadn’t.

A look at the 10 instances:
___
PRESSURE ON COMEY TO END PROBE OF MICHAEL FLYNN
This includes the president’s statement to then-FBI Director James Comey regarding the investigation of 

then-national security adviser Michael Flynn. Trump told Comey: “I hope you can see your way to letting 
this go.”

___
PRESIDENT’S REACTION TO THE CONTINUING RUSSIA INVESTIGATION
Among the evidence is the president telling then-White House counsel Don McGahn to stop Attorney 

General Jeff Sessions from recusing himself from the Russia investigation and Trump’s subsequent anger 
at Sessions. Trump also contacted Comey and other intelligence agency leaders to ask them to push back 
publicly on the suggestion that Trump had any connection to the Russian election-interference effort.
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___
FIRING OF COMEY AND AFTERMATH
Mueller’s report says “substantial evidence” indicates Trump’s decision to fire Comey in May 2017 was the 

result of the FBI director’s unwillingness to say publicly that Trump was not personally under investigation. 
On the day after Trump fired Comey, the president told Russian officials that he had “faced great pressure 
because of Russia. That’s taken off.”

___
APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL COUNSEL AND EFFORTS TO REMOVE HIM
Trump reacted to news of Mueller’s appointment by telling advisers that it was “the end of his presi-

dency.” The president told aides that Mueller had conflicts of interest and should have to step aside. His 
aides told Trump the asserted conflicts were meritless. Following media reports that Mueller’s team was 
investigating whether the president had obstructed justice, Trump called then-White House counsel Don 
McGahn at home and directed him to have Mueller removed. McGahn refused.

____
FURTHER EFFORTS TO CURTAIL THE SPECIAL COUNSEL’s INVESTIGATION
Trump instructed former campaign manager Corey Lewandowski to have Sessions publicly announce 

that, notwithstanding his recusal from the Russia investigation, the investigation was “very unfair” to the 
president, the president had done nothing wrong, and Sessions planned to meet with Mueller to limit him 
to “investigating election meddling for future elections.”

___
EFFORTS TO PREVENT PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF EVIDENCE
In summer of 2017, Trump learned that the news media planned to report on the June 2016 meeting at 

Trump Tower between senior campaign officials and Russians offering derogatory information about Hill-
ary Clinton. The president directed aides not to publicly disclose the emails setting up the meeting. Before 
the emails became public, the president also edited a press statement for Donald Trump Jr. by deleting 
a line that acknowledged that the meeting was “with an individual who (Trump Jr.) was told might have 
information helpful to the campaign.”

___
ADDITIONAL EFFORTS TO HAVE SESSIONS TAKE CONTROL OF INVESTIGATION
At several points in between July 2017 and December 2017, Trump tried to get Sessions to declare that 

he was no longer recused from the Russia investigation and would assert control over it. The report says 
there’s evidence that one purpose of asking Sessions to step in was so that the attorney general would 
restrict the investigation’s scope.

___
TRUMP ORDERS WHITE HOUSE COUNSEL TO DENY THAT PRESIDENT TRIED TO FIRE MUELLER
In an Oval Office meeting in February 2018, Trump told McGahn to “correct” a New York Times story 

that reported Trump had earlier instructed McGahn to fire Mueller. Trump also asked why McGahn had 
told Mueller’s investigators about the directive to remove Mueller. McGahn told Trump he had to tell the 
investigators the truth.

___
TRUMP’S ACTIONS TOWARD, FLYNN, MANAFORT AND OTHER POSSIBLE WITNESSES
Mueller looked at whether Trump’s sympathetic messages to Flynn, former campaign manager Paul 

Manafort and others were intended to limit their cooperation with Mueller’s investigation. When Flynn began 
cooperating with prosecutors, Trump passed word through his lawyer that he still had warm feeling for 
Flynn and asked for a “heads up” if Flynn knew of information implicating Trump. Trump praised Manafort 
during and after his criminal convictions, and refused to rule out a pardon for his former campaign chairman.

___
TRUMP ACTIONS TOWARD MICHAEL COHEN
Mueller noted that Trump’s conduct toward Cohen, a former Trump Organization executive, changed 

from praise to castigation after Cohen began cooperating with prosecutors. The evidence could “support 
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an inference that the president used inducements in the form of positive messages in an effort to get 
Cohen not to cooperate, and then turned to attacks and intimidation to deter” cooperation and undermine 
Cohen’s credibility, Mueller wrote.

___
For complete coverage of the Mueller report, go to https://www.apnews.com/TrumpInvestigations

Shortages hit Cuba, raising fears of new economic crisis
By ANDREA RODRIGUEZ and MICHAEL WEISSENSTEIN Associated Press

BAUTA, Cuba (AP) — Just after 8 a.m., Pura Castell got in line behind about 100 other people waiting 
for a chance to buy frozen chicken legs. For two hours she leaned on her cane watching people leave the 
state-run market with their 5-pound limit.

The chicken ran out at 10 a.m. while the 80-year-old Castell still had 20 people in front of her. She re-
turned the next morning, but no chicken. Then, relief. A neighbor told her that chicken had arrived at the 
government store that distributes heavily subsidized monthly food rations. Her household of three was 
due three pieces, either thighs or drumsticks.

“I’ve taken care of myself my whole life,” said Castell, a retired janitor. “I don’t just sit on my hands. I’m 
worn out but I walk all over town.”

After two decades of relative stability fueled by cheap Venezuelan oil, shortages of food and medicine 
have once again become a serious daily problem for millions of Cubans. A plunge in aid from Venezuela, 
the end of a medical services deal with Brazil and poor performances in sectors including nickel mining, 
sugar and tourism have left the communist state $1.5 billion in debt to the vendors that supply products 
ranging from frozen chicken to equipment for grinding grain into flour, according to former Economy 
Minister José Luis Rodríguez.

Stores no longer routinely stock eggs, flour, chicken, cooking oil, rice, powdered milk and ground turkey, 
among other products. These basics disappear for days or weeks. Hours-long lines appear within minutes 
of trucks showing up with new supplies. Shelves are empty again within hours.

No one is starving in Cuba, but the shortages are so severe that ordinary Cubans and the country’s 
leaders are openly referring to the “special period,” the years of economic devastation and deep suffering 
that followed the collapse of the Soviet Union, Cuba’s Cold War patron.

“It’s not about returning to the harshest phase of the special period of the ‘90s,” Communist Party head 
Raul Castro said last week. “But we always have to be ready for the worst.”

Two days later, President Miguel Díaz-Canel said cutbacks were necessary because: “This harsh moment 
demands we set clearly defined priorities in order to not return to the worst moments of the special period.”

The Trump administration is working hard to push Cuba toward economic crisis. Washington has sanc-
tioned Venezuela’s oil industry and the shipping companies that move Venezuelan oil to Cuba.

On Wednesday, U.S. National Security Adviser John Bolton announced further measures against Cuba 
and its allies, including a new cap on the amount of money that families in the United States can send their 
relatives on the island and new restrictions on travel to Cuba. “The troika of tyranny — Cuba, Venezuela 
and Nicaragua — is beginning to crumble,” he said.

The move followed the announcement a day earlier that lawsuits would now be permitted against for-
eign companies doing business in properties seized from Americans after the island’s 1959 revolution. The 
policy could deal a severe blow to Cuba’s efforts to draw foreign investment.

A senior Trump administration official said the economic pressure on Cuba was aimed at forcing the 
socialist government to stop helping its allies in Venezuela and Nicaragua. The U.S. has accused Cuba of 
sending soldiers and spies to both countries to strengthen their leaders against protests and potential 
defection. Cuba denies that.

“We’re going to make sure they cannot afford subsidized adventurism, subsidized subversion of democ-
racy outside of their borders,” said the official, who spoke on condition of anonymity because he was not 
authorized to speak publicly about U.S. policy toward Cuba. “At an extraordinarily vulnerable time in their 
history, they’re going to have to refocus on the domestic needs, their domestic pressures.”
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Despite some market-oriented reforms over the last decade, Cuba is one of the last countries on Earth 

to maintain a Soviet-style economy, with most business run by the state.
That economy is afflicted by deep inefficiency and corruption. Many state employees demand bribes 

to provide services to the public. Others spend only a few hours a day at their jobs, spending the rest of 
their time doing informal private work or selling supplies stolen from their office, warehouse or factory. 
Despite a highly educated and generally well-qualified workforce, Cuba’s industrial sector is dilapidated 
after decades of underinvestment. The country produces little of value on the global market besides rum, 
tobacco and the professionals who earn billions for the government working as doctors, teachers or en-
gineers in friendly third countries.

The agricultural sector is in shambles, requiring the country to import most of its food. Economy Minister 
Alejandro Gil said Saturday that Cuba would spend $5 billion on food and petroleum products this year.

Over the last 20 years, many of those billions came from Venezuela’s socialist government, which has 
deep ties to Cuba’s and sent nearly 100,000 barrels of oil daily for years. With Venezuela’s economic col-
lapse, that has roughly halved, along with deep cutbacks in the economic relationship across the board. 
And the news has been bad in virtually every other sector of the Cuban economy. Nickel production has 
dropped from 72,530 metric tons in 2011 to 50,000 last year, according to Rodríguez, the former econom-
ics minister. The sugar harvest dropped nearly 44%, to a million tons. The number of tourists grew only 
1%, with many coming on cruise ships, a relatively unprofitable type of visitor. Overall GDP growth has 
been stuck at 1% for the last three years.

Meanwhile, under agreements Castro struck to rehabilitate Cuba’s creditworthiness, the country is paying 
$2 billion in debt service to creditors such as Russia, Japan and the Paris Club.

State-run stores that sell low-quality Chinese household goods at double or triple their price outside the 
country are facing competition from vendors in Panama, Guyana, Mexico, Haiti and even Russia, where 
Cubans fly in, fill suitcases with goods, and return to sell them at a profit.

That overseas shopping has become a vacuum sucking precious hard currency out of Cuba. Economist 
Omar Everleny Pérez said he estimated that Cubans spent more than $2 billion a year buying products 
overseas.

With less cash on hand, there’s been even less in the state-run stores.
The manager of the butcher shop where Castell waited for chicken last week said she needed 80 boxes 

of chicken to fill that day’s demand and only 40 arrived.
Fears of a return to darker times are growing.
“During the special period we had it bad, like everyone. Even when we had money we couldn’t buy 

anything,” said Castell, a mother of six.
“It was really rough, blackouts, no food at all, I don’t want to go back to that,” said Ariadne Medina, a 

47-year-old worker in a private restaurant who was waiting to buy chicken behind Castell.
Independent experts say a return to the depths of the special period is unlikely. Cuba does business 

with dozens of nations, hosts nearly 5 million tourists a year and Cubans can travel freely to dozens of 
countries on direct flights to the U.S., Europe and Latin America.  Expatriates send billions home in annual 
remittances.

“The new government is trying to halt the deterioration, but it’s a tough assignment,” Pérez said. “It’s 
going to take resources and time.”

______
Follow Andrea Rodríguez on Twitter: www.twitter.com/ARodriguezAP
______
Associated Press writer Deb Riechmann contributed from Washington.

Pope washes inmates’ feet, says bishops must be servants
By NICOLE WINFIELD Associated Press

VATICAN CITY (AP) — Pope Francis washed the feet of 12 prisoners Thursday and urged them to serve 
one another as brothers, as he ushered in the solemn pre-Easter rituals made more poignant this year 
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following the devastation of Paris’ Notre Dame Cathedral.

Francis travelled to a prison in Velletri, outside Rome, for the Holy Thursday service that re-enacts the 
biblical story of Christ washing the feet of his disciples. The Mass opens the most solemn period in the 
liturgical calendar, leading up to the commemoration of Christ’s crucifixion on Good Friday and resurrec-
tion on Easter.

Francis has frequently performed the Holy Thursday ceremony at prisons to reinforce his message that 
even the most important figures must serve the most marginal like slaves, as Jesus did in washing the 
feet of his disciples.

“The bishop isn’t the most important. The bishop must be the most servant-like,” Francis said.
Directing his message at the prisoners themselves, Francis urged them to not try to dominate one an-

other, and to make the fights that break out between them a “fleeting thing.”
“The biggest must serve the smallest. He who feels biggest must be the servant,” Francis said. “May this 

gesture that I make help us to be more servant-like with one another, more friendly, brothers in service.”
He then proceeded to wash, dry and kiss the feet of the inmates: nine Italians, and one each from Brazil, 

Ivory Coast and Morocco. Francis, who suffers from sciatica, needed help from his aides to stand up and 
kneel down before each prisoner.

This year, the final days of Holy Week have taken on particular resonance following the fire at Notre 
Dame, a symbol of French Catholicism.

Francis has offered his condolences repeatedly to the French faithful, and French President Emmanuel 
Macron said Thursday that during a call to Francis after the blaze, he had invited the pontiff to visit Paris. 
On Wednesday, Francis fielded a call from U.S. President Donald Trump offering the sympathy of the 
American people over the loss, the Vatican spokesman said.

Francis started the day by celebrating the Chrism Mass to bless the holy oils that will be used during 
the year.

On Friday, he presides over the Way of the Cross procession at Rome’s Colosseum re-enacting Christ’s 
crucifixion, followed by the Easter Vigil in St. Peter’s Basilica and Easter Sunday in a flower-decked St. 
Peter’s Square.

___
This version corrects the spelling of Chrism.

2nd phase of Indian elections ends amid Kashmir lockdown
By AIJAZ HUSSAIN Associated Press

SRINAGAR, India (AP) — Voting in the second phase of India’s general election on Thursday remained 
largely peaceful amid massive security and a lockdown in parts of the main city in Indian-controlled Kashmir.

Indian officials said the turnout was over 60% across 13 Indian states where voting took place.
Kashmiri Muslim separatist leaders who challenge Hindu-majority India’s sovereignty over the disputed 

region urged a boycott of the vote, calling it an illegitimate exercise under military occupation. Most poll-
ing stations in Srinagar appeared deserted, with more police, paramilitary soldiers and election staff than 
voters. Srinagar was one of 95 constituencies which voted Thursday.

A majority of residents heeded the separatists’ call for a boycott, with only about 8% voter turnout in 
Srinagar, the urban heart of the anti-India revolt.

Anti-India protests and clashes erupted at several places during the voting, officials said. At least four 
people were injured when government forces fired bullets, shotguns and tear gas to quell protests by 
stone-throwing residents.

“This is not our vote. Our vote will be on the day we’re allowed to exercise a plebiscite” on Kashmir’s 
status, said Intizar Ahmed, a young trader in Srinagar. Another resident, Abdul Hamid, said he only voted 
in the hope that a Kashmiri representative in India’s Parliament will seek a resolution of the disputed re-
gion’s status.

Authorities shut down mobile internet service and closed some roads with steel barricades and razor 
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wire as soldiers and police in riot gear patrolled the streets. However, men and women in long queues 
voted briskly in Kashmir’s Hindu-dominated Udhampur constituency, where turnout was roughly 65%, 
officials said.

The Indian election is taking place in seven phases over six weeks in the country of 1.3 billion people. 
Some 900 million people are registered to vote for candidates to fill 543 seats in India’s lower house of 
Parliament. Voting concludes on May 19 and counting is scheduled for May 23.

The election, the world’s largest democratic exercise, is seen as a referendum on Prime Minister Narendra 
Modi and his Hindu nationalist Bharatiya Janata Party. The campaigning has been marred by accusations, 
insults and unprecedented use of social media for fake news.

Also voting Thursday was Tamil Nadu state in the south, where tens of thousands lined up to cast their 
ballots for 37 seats. Voting was postponed for the Vellore seat following the seizure of 110 million ($1.57 
million) in unaccounted cash allegedly from the home of a local opposition politician, Kathir Anand.

His party accused federal tax authorities of raiding the homes and offices of party leaders running 
against Modi’s party. The governing party in the state, All India Anna Dravida Munnetra Kazhagam, is an 
ally of Modi’s party.

The Election Commission said authorities had recovered 2 billion rupees ($29 million) from leaders, work-
ers and supporters of various political parties in the state in the past month. They suspect the money 
was for buying votes.

In vote-rich Uttar Pradesh state, election officials directed authorities to provide drinking water and sun 
shelters at polling stations to cope with the scorching summer heat, said Vekenteshwar Lu, the state’s 
chief electoral officer.

Modi promised big-ticket economic reforms, but with unemployment rising and farmers’ distress aggra-
vated by low crop prices, his party has adopted a nationalist pitch trying to win the majority Hindu votes.

A report by Azim Premji University in India’s southern state of Karnataka, released on Wednesday, said 5 
million men lost their jobs between 2016 and 2018, coinciding with Modi’s demonetization program aimed 
at curbing black market money by taking high currency notes out of circulation. The decision ultimately 
hurt the poor, while most of the illicit funds re-entered the banking system.

The report said the overall unemployment rate in India was around 6% in 2018, double the average 
between 2000 and 2011.

Modi has used Kashmir to pivot away from his economic record, playing up the threat of rival Pakistan, 
especially after the suicide bombing of a paramilitary convoy on Feb. 14 that killed 40 soldiers, in a bid to 
appear a strong, uncompromising leader on national security. The bombing brought nuclear rivals India 
and Pakistan close to the brink of war.

Opposition parties have consistently said that Modi and his party leaders are digressing from the main 
issues such as youth employment and farmers’ suicides. The main opposition Congress party has dubbed 
him a “national disaster.”

Kashmir is divided between India and Pakistan and both claim the Himalayan territory in its entirety. 
Rebels have been fighting Indian control since 1989. Most Kashmiris support the rebels’ demand that the 
territory be united either under Pakistani rule or as an independent country, while also participating in 
civilian street protests against Indian control.

Anti-India unrest has risen significantly since Modi came to power in 2014 amid a rise in Hindu national-
ism and attacks against Muslims and other minorities.

Modi supporters say the tea seller’s son from Gujarat state has improved the nation’s standing. But crit-
ics say his party’s Hindu nationalism has aggravated religious tensions in India.

___
Associated Press writers Ashok Sharma in New Delhi and Biswajeet Banerjee in Lucknow, India, con-

tributed to this report.
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Marvel closes a decade-long story with ‘Avengers: Endgame’

By LINDSEY BAHR AP Film Writer
LOS ANGELES (AP) — About five years ago, Marvel Studios president Kevin Feige found himself on a 

retreat in Palm Springs plotting the future for the wild, experimental “cinematic universe” that he helped 
start in 2008 . He wanted to do something that they hadn’t done. He wanted an ending.

And after a quick pitch to Robert Downey Jr., he, directors Anthony and Joe Russo and screenwriters 
Christopher Markus and Stephen McFeely, started plotting a way to bring this saga to a close, brainstorm-
ing whenever they had a moment — even in between takes of “Captain America: Civil War.”

Anyone who saw “Avengers: Infinity War” knows they weren’t kidding around either. Thanos literally 
dissolved half of humanity, including Spider-Man and Black Panther in an event known as “the snap” that’s 
inspired tears, memes and more fan theories than the internet can hold. Talk about a cliffhanger.

Endings are a rarity in the franchise movie-making business; especially when one’s popularity has only 
multiplied as the movies of Marvel have. But Marvel Studios, which has never shied away from a little 
rule-breaking, is taking a sledgehammer to that old “don’t leave money on the table” maxim, and audi-
ences will finally be able to see how they do it when “Avengers: Endgame” opens nationwide on April 25.

“(Ending) is not a scary word,” Feige said. “It’s a necessary word.”
What exactly that means for the Marvel Cinematic Universe (MCU) is something of a state secret. Feige 

said that this will be “definitive,” though.
“People can debate and discuss what that means before they see the movie,” Feige said. “But for us 

that means bringing to a conclusion the first three phases, the first 22 films in the MCU, so that everything 
thereafter is a new start.”

So “new” in fact that Feige won’t even discuss what’s to come beyond the July release of “Spider-Man: 
Far From Home.” He won’t confirm reportedly in-the-works projects like the “Black Widow” stand-alone, 
“The Eternals” or “Shang-Chi,” or talk about plans for the 20th Century Fox properties like “Deadpool” and 
“X-Men” that are now under his purview.

They have the next five years mapped out; they’re just not letting audiences peek behind the curtain 
until after “Endgame.” It’s that big.

“How we leave ‘Endgame’ will help define where we’re going for many people,” Feige said.
But how does one talk about a movie that no press has seen and no actors or creators are allowed to 

discuss in detail? Well, carefully and cryptically.
We know some things. That the heroes left like Iron Man (Downey Jr.), Captain America (Chris Evans), 

Black Widow (Scarlett Johansson), Thor (Chris Hemsworth), Hulk (Mark Ruffalo) and War Machine(Don 
Cheadle) are dealing with the devastating loss post-snap while trying to figure out what to do with Thanos. 
A helpful “Avenge the Fallen” campaign served as a reminder of who survived and who didn’t (some of the 
dusted were even a surprise, like “Black Panther’s” Shuri). We also know they have a new weapon in Brie 
Larson’s Captain Marvel, who Samuel L. Jackson’s Nick Fury managed to page before dissolving into dust.

Will characters die, though? Probably. Will the ones lost in “the snap,” remain gone? Unclear (although 
some who have upcoming movies, like, say Spider-Man, won’t). But the cast and filmmakers aren’t giving 
anything up, or even commenting on the fact that this might be the last of Evans as Captain America, 
which the actor himself tweeted about months ago.

“I still don’t know what happens in this movie,” said Larson, who actually even filmed her scenes in 
“Endgame” before “Captain Marvel,” which came out earlier this year.

Filming proved an emotional experience for many of the actors, a lot of whom have now been working 
together for almost a decade or more.

“I was pretty teary-eyed,” Evans said. “This is the culmination of a really long endeavor. It kind of wraps 
up the journey for a lot of these characters.”

It led to a lot of reflection, about where they started and how they’ve grown. Johansson noted that 
she’d been developing her character for 10 years now, and is excited that Black Widow has evolved from 
a “sexy secretary” type to a more fully realized woman.

“The whole shoot felt pretty nostalgic,” Hemsworth added. “We were constantly talking about when it 
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all started to how we pulled this off and what we were a part of.”

But he also admits he was “kind of happy to get off the set.” An eight month shoot can wear even on 
Thor.

And indeed the shoot was grueling. The directors, who did “Winter Soldier,” ‘’Civil War” and “Infinity 
War” said it was the hardest of their life.

“This went far beyond anything we’d ever done before,” said Anthony Russo. “There’s a reason why 
movies aren’t made this way normally.”

But that this was unconventional was also the draw.
“I think the only reason we stuck around, is because they were committed to an ending and we’re de-

constructionists,” said Joe Russo. “We like to take things apart and see the ramifications of what happens. 
‘Winter Soldier’ the good guys became the bad guys, ‘Civil War,’ we divorced the heroes, ‘Infinity War,’ we 
killed half of them. We like to smash it and look at how you can put the pieces back together.”

And no one, not even Feige, regrets putting the MCU on this one-way path. That’s not to say he never 
second guesses himself, however.

Two weeks before “Infinity War” came out he had a moment of panic about the snap.
“That ending was one of the reasons why we wanted to make the movie. That’s how we sold it to Disney. 

We were confident in it,” Feige said. “But then a week or two weeks before the film came out, I went, 
‘Oh no. We’re killing all these people. What if the audience totally rejects it?’”

Speaking just a few weeks before “Endgame” is unleashed on the world, Feige has found himself in a 
familiar spot.

Feige said: “It’s not until the movie is completely finished, which ‘Endgame’ is now completely finished, 
when you can’t touch it any more that you go, ‘Wait a minute: Should we have touched it more?’”

___
AP Entertainment Reporter Marcela Isaza contributed from Los Angeles.

Indonesia’s Widodo declares victory in presidential election
By NINIEK KARMINI Associated Press

JAKARTA, Indonesia (AP) — Indonesian President Joko Widodo said Thursday he has won re-election 
after receiving an estimated 54% of the vote, backtracking on an earlier vow to wait for official results 
after his challenger made improbable claims of victory.

Widodo, after meeting with parties in his coalition, told reporters that the leaders of Malaysia, Singapore, 
Turkey and numerous other nations have congratulated him on securing a second term.

The vote estimate is based on so-called quick counts of a sample of polling stations by a dozen reputable 
survey organizations. Widodo said that 100% of sample polling stations have now been counted or close 
to that. The quick counts have been accurate in previous elections.

“We all know that the QC (quick count) calculation is a scientific calculation method. From the country’s 
experiences of past elections the accuracy is 99.9%, almost the same as real count results,” Widodo said.

Widodo’s rival, former Gen. Prabowo Subianto, has claimed he won 62% of the vote in Wednesday’s 
election based on his campaign’s own counts, repeating a similar claim when he lost to Widodo in 2014.

The Election Commission is required to release official results by May 22.
Indonesia, the world’s most populous Muslim-majority nation, is an outpost of democracy in a South-

east Asian neighborhood of authoritarian governments and is forecast to be among the world’s biggest 
economies by 2030. A second term for Widodo, the first Indonesian president from outside the Jakarta 
elite, could further cement the country’s two decades of democratization.

Subianto, a strident nationalist, ran a fear-based campaign, highlighting what he sees as Indonesia’s 
weakness and the risk of exploitation by foreign powers or disintegration.

Widodo said he had sent a representative to talk to Subianto and his camp.
“This afternoon I have sent an envoy to meet Prabowo to set a meeting, and if people see our meeting, 

we will be able to show how the elections have ended smoothly, safely and peacefully,” he said.
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The country’s security minister and its military and police chiefs said earlier Thursday that they will 

crack down on any attempts to disrupt public order while official results from presidential and legislative 
elections are tabulated.

Security minister Wiranto, who uses a single name, told a news conference with the chiefs of police and 
all military branches that security forces will “act decisively” against any threats to order and security.

He said the voter turnout of 80.5% gives the winner of the presidential election “high legitimacy.”
National police chief Tito Karnavian said the Election Commission and courts are the appropriate institu-

tions for resolving complaints about the election.
Subianto’s hard-line Muslim supporters plan mass prayers in central Jakarta on Friday but it was unclear 

if the event will be allowed to go ahead.
“I appeal to everybody not to mobilize, both mobilization to celebrate victory or mobilization about dis-

satisfaction,” Karnavian said.
The election was a huge logistical exercise with 193 million people eligible to vote, more than 800,000 

polling stations and 17 million people involved in ensuring the polls ran smoothly. Helicopters, boats and 
horses were used to get ballots to remote and inaccessible corners of the archipelago.

Voting ran smoothly, apart from a few districts where logistical problems caused delays, and was peace-
ful, a remarkable achievement for a country steeped in political violence.

Widodo’s campaign highlighted his progress in poverty reduction and improving Indonesia’s inadequate 
infrastructure with new ports, toll roads, airports and mass rapid transit. The latter became a reality last 
month in chronically congested Jakarta with the opening of a subway.

Drones, supercomputers and sonar deployed against floods
By ADRIAN SAINZ and JEFF MARTIN Associated Press

MEMPHIS, Tenn. (AP) — An arsenal of new technology is being put to the test fighting floods this year 
as rivers inundate towns and farm fields across the central United States. Drones, supercomputers and 
sonar that scans deep under water are helping to maintain flood control projects and predict just where 
rivers will roar out of their banks.

Together, these tools are putting detailed information to use in real time, enabling emergency manag-
ers and people at risk to make decisions that can save lives and property, said Kristie Franz, associate 
professor of geological and atmospheric sciences at Iowa State University.

The cost of this technology is coming down even as disaster recovery becomes more expensive, so 
“anything we can do to reduce the costs of these floods and natural hazards is worth it,” she said. “Of 
course, loss of life, which you can’t put a dollar amount on, is certainly worth that as well.”

U.S. scientists said in their spring weather outlook that 13 million people are at risk of major inunda-
tion, with more than 200 river gauges this week showing some level of flooding in the Mississippi River 
basin, which drains the vast middle of the United States. Major flooding continues in places from the Red 
River in North Dakota to near the mouth of the Mississippi in Louisiana, a map from the National Weather 
Service shows.

“There are over 200 million people that are under some elevated threat risk,” said Ed Clark, director of 
the National Water Center in Tuscaloosa, Alabama, a flood forecasting hub.

Much of the technology, such as the National Water Model , didn’t exist until recently. Fueled by super-
computers in Virginia and Florida, it came online about three years ago and expanded streamflow data by 
700-fold, assembling data from 5 million river miles (8 million kilometers) of rivers and streams nationwide, 
including many smaller ones in remote areas.

“Our models simulate exactly what happens when the rain falls on the Earth and whether it runs off or 
infiltrates,” Clark said. “And so the current conditions, whether that be snow pack or the soil moisture in 
the snow pack, well that’s something we can measure and monitor and know.”

Emergency managers and dam safety officials can see simulations of the consequences of flood wa-
ters washing away a levee or crashing through a dam using technology developed at the University of 
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Mississippi — a web-based system known as DSS-WISE . The software went online in 2017 and quickly 
provided simulations that informed the response to heavy rains that damaged spillways at the nation’s 
tallest dam in northern California. The program also helped forecast the flooding after Hurricane Harvey 
in Texas and Louisiana that year.

Engineers monitoring levees along the Mississippi River have been collecting and checking data using a 
geographic information system produced by Esri, said Nick Bidlack, levee safety program manager for the 
Memphis district of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. The company produces mapping tools such as an 
interactive site showing the nation’s largest rivers and their average monthly flow.

On the Mississippi River, flood inspectors use smartphones or tablets in the field to input data into map-
driven forms for water levels and the locations of inoperable flood gates, seepages, sand boils or levee 
slides, which are cracks or ditches in the slopes of an earthen levee. Photos, videos and other data are 
sent to an emergency flood operation center in real time, allowing Corps officials to visualize any problems 
and their exact location, instantly informing the response, Bidlack said.

“If people in the field have concerns about something, they can let us know to go out there and look at 
it,” Bidlack said. “There’s a picture associated with it, a description of it, and it helps us take care of it.”

Corps engineers are increasingly flying drones to get their own aerial photography and video of flooded 
areas they can’t otherwise get to because of high water or rough terrain, said Edward Dean, a Corps 
engineer.

“We can reach areas that are unreachable,” Dean said.
The Corps also now uses high-definition sonar in its daily operations to survey the riverbed, pinpointing 

where maintenance work needs to be done, said Corps engineer Andy Simmerman. The Memphis district 
uses a 26-foot survey boat called the Tiger Shark, with a sonar head that looks like an old-fashioned 
vacuum cleaner and collects millions of points per square inch of data, Simmerman said.

The technology has helped them find cars and trucks that have been dumped into the river, along with 
weak spots in the levees.

“These areas are 20 to 80 feet underwater, we’d never get to see them without sonar,” Simmerman said. 
“The water never gets low enough for us to see a lot of these failures.”

During recent flooding near Cairo, Illinois, a culvert that should have been closed was sending water 
onto the dry side of a levee. The sonar pointed engineers to the precise location of a log that was stuck 
20 feet deep in murky water, keeping the culvert open. Plastic sheathing and sandbags were brought in 
to stop the flow and save the land below.

“The sonar definitely made a difference,” said Simmerman. “A big success.”
___
Martin reported from Atlanta. Associated Press writer Jay Reeves contributed from Tuscaloosa, Alabama.

Worth the risk? It’s not easy to put a value on a cathedral
By DANICA KIRKA Associated Press

LONDON (AP) — Rebuilding Notre Dame, the 800-year-old Paris cathedral devastated by fire this week, 
will cost billions of dollars as architects, historians and artisans work to preserve the medieval landmark.

But contrary to what one might think, little of the money will come from insurance companies.
Notre Dame and all of its pre-1905 artworks are the property of the French state and not insured. The 

French government is responsible for costs like restoration and rebuilding because it has the financial 
resources to do so — and because taking out private insurance on something as valuable as a national 
monument would be difficult and expensive.

Unique forms of property, like monuments or religious relics, are hard to value. How do you put a price 
tag on sentiment, history and international renown?

“A small number of specialized insurers, notably Lloyd’s of London, are often willing to accept the risk 
of undertaking such valuations, but the resulting premiums are very high,” said Bruce Huber, professor of 
law at the University of Notre Dame in Indiana. “The insurance business operates by spreading risk over 
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a large number of similarly situated insured parties, and obviously in the case of unique assets, there is 
not a large pool!”

High-net-worth individuals, corporations, and other entities with substantial assets — like France or any 
other nation-state — often choose to self-insure instead.

“The cost to them of financing the occasional repair or replacement of a unique asset, they may calcu-
late, will be lower than the sum of the insurance premiums,” he said. “Thus I would doubt that Egypt has 
purchased a comprehensive insurance policy for, e.g., the Pyramids of Egypt.”

While French authorities are still investigating the cause of the fire at Notre Dame, attention has focused 
on a 6 million-euro ($6.75 million) renovation project that was underway when the blaze broke out. The 
building contractors would have been required to have insurance, but the payouts from that would be “a 
drop in the ocean” compared with the cost of restoring the cathedral, said Robert Read, Head of Art and 
Private Client at Hiscox, an international insurance company that started as an underwriter on the Lloyd’s 
of London market.

Rebuilding a centuries-old landmark is difficult and expensive because the goal is to preserve the original 
character of the building, not just replace it.

Ecclesiastical Insurance, a U.K.-based company that has been insuring churches for 130 years, said the 
structures are complicated to insure because of their age.

In Britain, for instance, buildings deemed to be of high historical value must be restored in the same way 
as they were originally built. That means finding materials and artisans who can reproduce work done in, 
say, medieval times, which quickly becomes very expensive.

Paul Humphris, specialist claims consultant at Ecclesiastical Insurance, said the primary issue at the mo-
ment at Notre Dame would be safety. If parts of the building look like they are going to fall down they will 
do whatever is necessary to ensure long-term stability. That might include “a certain element of violence” 
in knocking things down to make sure that no one gets hurt. But when possible, they will restore it on a 
brick-by-brick basis.

They will likely use men on cranes, drones, 3D imagery and detailed surveys to offer forensic detail.
“I think the main message is that this building can be restored,” he said. “There’s no reason it can’t be 

done. But it won’t be a precise replica.”

Asian stocks rise in quiet holiday trading
By YURI KAGEYAMA AP Business Writer

TOKYO (AP) — Asian stock indexes rose moderately in quiet holiday trading on Good Friday as some 
markets were closed.

Japan’s benchmark Nikkei 225 edged up 0.5% in early trading to 22,191.98. South Korea’s Kospi rose 
0.3% to 2,221.1. The Shanghai Composite gained 0.6% to 3,269.59.

Some markets remain closed for a national holiday, including in the U.S., Hong Kong, Australia and parts 
of Europe.

Overnight, major U.S. stock indexes capped the holiday shortened week with slight gains, although the 
marginal upward move was not enough to keep the benchmark S&amp;P 500 index from snapping a string 
of three straight weekly gains.

The S&amp;P 500 gained 4.58 points, or 0.2%, to 2,905.03. The Dow Jones Industrial Average rose 
110 points, or 0.4%, to 26,559.54. The Nasdaq composite inched 1.98 points higher, or less than 0.1%, to 
7,998.06. The Russell 2000 index of small-cap dropped 1.85 points, or 0.1%, to 1,565.75.

ENERGY: Benchmark U.S. crude oil added 7 cents to $64.07 a barrel. It rose 0.4% to settle at $64 per 
barrel Thursday. Brent crude, the international standard, added 0.5% to $71.97 per barrel.

CURRENCIES: The dollar rose slightly to 111.92 Japanese yen from 111.89 yen late Thursday. The euro 
weakened to $1.1241 from $1.1258.

___
Follow Yuri Kageyama on Twitter https://twitter.com/yurikageyama
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Today in History
By The Associated Press undefined

Today in History
Today is Friday, April 19, the 109th day of 2019. There are 256 days left in the year.
Today’s Highlight in History:
On April 19, 1995, a truck bomb destroyed the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City, killing 

168 people. (Bomber Timothy McVeigh, who prosecutors said had planned the attack as revenge for the 
Waco siege of two years earlier, was convicted of federal murder charges and executed in 2001.)

On this date:
In 1775, the American Revolutionary War began with the battles of Lexington and Concord.
In 1865, a funeral was held at the White House for President Abraham Lincoln, assassinated five days 

earlier; his coffin was then taken to the U.S. Capitol for a private memorial service in the Rotunda.
In 1939, Connecticut became the last of the original 13 colonies to ratify the Bill of Rights, 147 years 

after it took effect.
In 1943, during World War II, tens of thousands of Jews in the Warsaw Ghetto began a valiant but ul-

timately futile battle against Nazi forces.
In 1951, Gen. Douglas MacArthur, relieved of his Far East command by President Harry S. Truman, bade 

farewell in an address to Congress in which he quoted a line from a ballad: “Old soldiers never die; they 
just fade away.”

In 1966, Bobbi Gibb, 23, became the first woman to run the Boston Marathon at a time when only men 
were allowed to participate. (Gibb jumped into the middle of the pack after the sound of the starting pistol 
and finished in 3:21:40.)

In 1977, the Supreme Court, in Ingraham v. Wright, ruled 5-4 that even severe spanking of schoolchildren 
by faculty members did not violate the Eighth Amendment ban against cruel and unusual punishment.

In 1989, 47 sailors were killed when a gun turret exploded aboard the USS Iowa in the Caribbean. (The 
Navy initially suspected that a dead crew member had deliberately sparked the blast, but later said there 
was no proof of that.)

In 1993, the 51-day siege at the Branch Davidian compound near Waco, Texas, ended as fire destroyed 
the structure after federal agents began smashing their way in; about 80 people, including two dozen 
children and sect leader David Koresh, were killed.

In 1994, a Los Angeles jury awarded $3.8 million to beaten motorist Rodney King.
In 2005, Cardinal Joseph Ratzinger of Germany was elected pope in the first conclave of the new mil-

lennium; he took the name Benedict XVI.
In 2013, Dzhokhar Tsarnaev (joh-HAHR’ tsahr-NEYE’-ehv), a 19-year-old college student wanted in the 

Boston Marathon bombings, was taken into custody after a manhunt that had left the city virtually para-
lyzed; his older brother and alleged accomplice, 26-year-old Tamerlan (TAM’-ehr-luhn), was killed earlier 
in a furious attempt to escape police.

Ten years ago: The Summit of the Americas wrapped up in Trinidad and Tobago; afterward, Presi-
dent Barack Obama held a news conference in which he defended his brand of world politics, saying he 
“strengthens our hand” by reaching out to enemies of the United States. Author J.G. Ballard, a survivor of 
a Japanese prison camp who reached a wide audience with the autobiographical “Empire Of The Sun,” died 
in London at age 78. Felix “Doc” Blanchard, football superhero for Army and winner of the 1945 Heisman 
Trophy, died at his central Texas home at age 84.

Five years ago: The captain of a ferry that sank off the coast of South Korea, leaving more than 300 
dead, was arrested on suspicion of negligence and abandoning people in need. (Lee Joon-seok was later 
sentenced to 36 years in prison; he was acquitted of a homicide charge which could have carried a death 
sentence.) Ten months after their capture in Syria, four French journalists crossed the border into neigh-
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boring Turkey to freedom, though dozens more remained held in the country’s chaotic civil war. Country 
music singer Kevin Sharp, 43, died in Fair Oaks, California.

One year ago: Raul Castro turned over Cuba’s presidency to Miguel Mario Diaz-Canel Bermudez, the 
first non-Castro to hold Cuba’s top government office since the 1959 revolution led by Fidel Castro and 
his younger brother Raul. Democratic Sen. Tammy Duckworth of Illinois brought her 10-day-old daughter 
to the Senate floor one day after senators approved a new rule permitting it; Duckworth was the first 
senator to have given birth while serving in the Senate. Walter Leroy Moody, age 83, was executed by 
lethal injection in Alabama for the mail-bomb slaying of a federal judge in 1989; Moody became the oldest 
prisoner put to death in the U.S. in modern times. Authorities in Minnesota ended their investigation into 
the death of music superstar Prince from an accidental overdose without charging anyone in the case.

Today’s Birthdays: Actress Elinor Donahue is 82. Rock musician Alan Price (The Animals) is 77. Actor 
Tim Curry is 73. Pop singer Mark “Flo” Volman (The Turtles; Flo and Eddie) is 72. Actor Tony Plana is 67. 
Former tennis player Sue Barker is 63. Motorsports Hall of Famer Al Unser Jr. is 57. Actor Tom Wood is 56. 
Recording executive Suge Knight is 54. Singer-songwriter Dar Williams is 52. Actress Kim Hawthorne (TV: 
“Greenleaf”) is 51. Actress Ashley Judd is 51. Singer Bekka Bramlett is 51. Latin pop singer Luis Miguel 
is 49. Actress Jennifer Esposito is 47. Actress Jennifer Taylor is 47. Jazz singer Madeleine Peyroux (PAY’-
roo) is 45. Actor James Franco is 41. Actress Kate Hudson is 40. Actor Hayden Christensen is 38. Actress 
Catalina Sandino Moreno is 38. Actress-comedian Ali Wong is 37. Actress Victoria Yeates is 36. Actress 
Kelen Coleman is 35. Actor Zack Conroy is 34. Roots rock musician Steve Johnson (Alabama Shakes) is 
34. Actor Courtland Mead is 32. Tennis player Maria Sharapova is 32.

Thought for Today: “Never one thing and seldom one person can make for a success. It takes a number 
of them merging into one perfect whole.” — Marie Dressler, Canadian actress (1869-1934).


